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1. INTRODUCTION 

 

In authoritarian Kazakhstan, civil society representatives are subjected to arbitrary detention, criminal 
prosecution, imprisonment and torture for public and human rights activities, participation in peaceful 
protests and criticism of the authorities through social networks. 

Under the pretext of the COVID-19 pandemic, Kazakhstani authorities have further intensified political 
repression. The total number of politically persecuted people in Kazakhstan is growing, primarily due to 
detention of peaceful protesters. Over the past 2.5 years, more than 7,000 peaceful protesters have been 
arbitrarily detained by force in various regions of Kazakhstan. 

With the help of secret court decisions, which were passed without the participation of the defense, the 
authorities declared the peaceful opposition movements Democratic Choice of Kazakhstan (DCK) and 
Koshe Partiyasy to be "extremist". At the time of the ban, these movements had over 277,000 members in 
their Telegram chats. Relying on decisions to ban the DCK and Koshe Partiyasy, the authorities continue mass 
persecution of undesirable opposition activists and human rights defenders. 

Opposition activists are imprisoned and ill-treated on charges of "positive endorsement of the ideas of the 
DCK and Koshe Partiyasy", "discrediting the current government" and "forming a negative image of the 
government". In fact, the authorities equate dissent with "extremism". Kazakhstan does not comply with 
decisions of UN bodies on release of political prisoners and/or their rehabilitation. These human rights issues, 
which are the subject of this report, are presented in more detail in Section 2. 

Section 4 and Section 5 detail the cases of opposition activists Dulat Agadil, Amanbike Khairolla and Serik 
Orazov, who died between February and May 2020 as a result of illegal actions and political persecution by 
law enforcement agencies. The facts allow us to consider these cases as political murders. In the following 
sections, we look at the role of perpetrators in specific cases concerning the persecution of activists for 
participation in peaceful gatherings, criticism of the authorities in social media, and other civil and human 
rights activities. 

In this report we examine the facts of crimes committed by Kazakhstani officials in the period from 
September 2019 to October 2020, which are the basis for the imposition of personal sanctions. These cases 
can be considered within the framework of the US and UK legislation on personal sanctions in response to 
the types of gross violations of internationally recognized human rights detailed in this report, in particular: 

- the US legislation: the Global Magnitsky Act of 2016, implemented by Executive Order 13818 (provides 
for the freezing of assets, property, bank accounts) and Section 7031(c) SFOPS1 (provides for visa 
restrictions); 

- the UK legislation: paragraph 4 of part 1 and paragraph 6 of part 2 of the Global Human Rights Sanctions 
Regulations 20202, which came into force on 6 July 2020. 

Within the framework of these laws, we call for such violations to be examined: 

1. The deaths of opposition activists, which have the character of political murder, as well as sabotaging 
investigations into these crimes and attempts by the authorities to cover up traces of crime. Political 
murder is considered to be the act of killing a public or political figure in order to intimidate members 
of a social group (e.g. political opposition) of which he is a part and also in order to take revenge for 

 
1 the Department of State, Foreign Operations, and Related Programs Appropriations Act, 2020 
2 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/680/contents/made  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/680/contents/made
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his public or political activities. Political murder is the result of systematic political persecution and 
repressive policies of the authoritarian state against members of civil society and the opposition. 

2. Torture and ill-treatment, concealing acts of torture and covering up those responsible for torture. 
Our definition of torture and ill-treatment is based on the methodology and comments of the UN 
Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture3 established by the UN General Assembly. 

Violations that can be examined under the American Section 7031(c) of the SFOPS4 (provides for visa 
restrictions - visa cancellation or inability to obtain a visa): 

3. Arbitrary detention (with the use of brutal force, beatings, use of asphyxiating techniques) of activists 
and participants in peaceful assemblies. In many cases, the detentions were carried out by people 
without any distinguishing marks and with gross violations of procedural rules, which looked more 
like abductions. 

4. Illegal and inappropriate interrogation calls as well as hours of questioning about political views, 
without lawyers, with the use of threats and psychological pressure and in some cases without food, 
water and access to the toilet. 

5. Politically motivated administrative arrests and fines for participation in peaceful assemblies, 
including 5-minute night-time courts right in police stations behind closed doors without lawyers. 

6. Fabrication of criminal charges for civil and human rights activities and flagrant violations of the right 
to liberty such as politically motivated imprisonment. 

7. Searches of the place of residence of opposition activists; surveillance, pressure, intimidation and 
death threats against activists and their relatives. 

None of the law enforcement officers have been punished for the above-mentioned crimes, despite the 
abundance of evidence and the wide publicity of the cases. The facts indicate a deliberate policy of the 
authorities to conceal crimes by law enforcement agencies and to cover up those who are responsible. 

On 3 September 2019 the previous report of the Open Dialogue Foundation "Servants of the regime" was 
published5.  On 22 September 2020 we published the continuation and extension of this report. Since then, 
we have received new personal data of perpetrators, such as their passport numbers, addresses and dates 
of birth. In some cases, such data are provided by individual relatives or friends of the perpetrators who had 
refused to put up with their crimes, in other cases - by people who are not indifferent and who possess the 
relevant information. In addition, with the help of social networks it has been possible to establish kinship 
relationships of the perpetrators, obtain their photos or dates of birth. 

We organised the collection of data on perpetrators and information on their criminal activities on our 
Instagram account regimeservants6, as well as on a specially created Telegram-bot7. Receiving information 
from different sources, we process it and unify it according to one standard. 

The Foundation presents an updated version of the report, which includes new data received on some 
perpetrators. The publication of this personal data is motivated by the broad public interest and the need to 
protect victims of torture, political murder, arbitrary detention and political repression. This mechanism 

 
3 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Torture/UNVFT/Pages/Documentation.aspx 
4 the Department of State, Foreign Operations, and Related Programs Appropriations Act, 2020  
5 https://ru.odfoundation.eu/a/9457,slugi-rezhima-kto-presleduet-mirnyh-protestujushchih-v-kazahstane/  
6 https://www.instagram.com/regimeservants/  
7 https://t.me/Slugi_bot  

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Torture/UNVFT/Pages/Documentation.aspx
https://ru.odfoundation.eu/a/9457,slugi-rezhima-kto-presleduet-mirnyh-protestujushchih-v-kazahstane/
https://www.instagram.com/regimeservants/
https://t.me/Slugi_bot
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facilitates the accurate identification of perpetrators, creates conditions for the launch of sanctions 
procedures, including visa restrictions, and serves as a tool to stop impunity. 

We hereby request that the information presented in this report be considered not only by the governments 
of the United States and Great Britain, but also the competent authorities of Canada, Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania as part of their ǎŀƴŎǘƛƻƴΩǎ legislation under the Global Magnitsky Act. In the future, this information 
may be useful for the governments of Switzerland, Australia and the European Union, which are developing 
their analogues of the Magnitsky Act. 

This document provides evidence in favour of imposing personal sanctions against such persons as: 

¶ The heads of Kazakhstani state bodies whose employees commit serious human rights violations: 
Chairman of the Security Council and First President (Yelbasy) Nursultan Nazarbayev, Chairman of the 
National Security Committee (KNB) Karim Massimov, First Deputy Chairman of the National Security 
Committee Samat Abish, Interior Minister Yerlan Turgumbayev and Prosecutor General Gizat 
Nurdauletov. They are the ones who give the orders and lead the political prosecutions. 

Section 3 describes the rigid vertical structure and centralised decision-making process in these 
bodies, their organisational structure and hierarchy. This means that the heads of the KNB, MIA, 
Security Council and Prosecutor's Office have direct control over the perpetrators of violations and 
are personally responsible for the crimes committed by these agencies. They are not only aware of 
these crimes, but also ensure impunity for the perpetrators. 

¶ Executors of criminal orders that are directly or indirectly involved in crimes are both heads of law 
enforcement agencies' departments and ordinary employees of the Ministry of Internal Affairs, NSC, 
Prosecutor's Office, akimats and judges. These persons from 26 cities in Kazakhstan are listed in 
Section 6. 

In total, this report mentions the names of 364 human rights violators τ employees of law enforcement 
agencies, akimats and courts. Some of them are included in a separate list in Annex 1. The annex lists violators 
for whom there is insufficient personal information and they are under further monitoring by civil society 
representatives. 

Only selected cases for which information and evidence have been collected are examined in the report. 
However, these cases illustrate the general pattern of repression and the systemic institutional features of 
the work of the KNB, the Interior Ministry and the Prosecutor's Office. These institutions actually serve as a 
protection for the political regime and are used as a tool to combat dissent. 

Due to the lack of the rule of law and fair justice, gross violations of the rights to freedom of peaceful 
assembly, freedom of opinion, freedom of information, protection from arbitrary detention, protection from 
torture, the right to a lawyer and a fair trial remain unpunished in Kazakhstan. Thus, the authorities do not 
comply with the ratified international agreements τ the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 
and the UN Convention against Torture. These actions also run counter to the Enlarged Partnership 
Agreement with the EU, the recommendations of the European Parliament Resolution of 14 March 2019 and 
the ODIHR and Venice Commission Guidelines on Freedom of Peaceful Assembly. 

Personal sanctions demonstrate a clear position that such violations will not be tolerated by a democratic 
public. Senior officials who are in charge of these illegal activities, as well as their relatives, have financial 
accounts and real estate in developed democracies, do business there, purchase things, conduct business 
visits and travel (Section 3). The imposition of sanctions will affect the reputation of these individuals and 
their position in the international financial system. 
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Personal sanctions are an additional lever of influence in diplomatic discussions and an effective incentive to 
change the policies and behaviour of violators. Personal sanctions have a direct impact on violators and do 
not have a negative impact on the state as a whole. Successful use of the instruments of the Magnitsky Act 
will lead to an improvement of the situation with regard to human rights and the rule of law, which in turn 
will reduce the risks in terms of security in the region and the protection of investments of democratic states. 

The report is based on information and evidence from 1,119 victims of political persecution from 37 cities 
in Kazakhstan (their names are given in Annex 2), as well as documents, administrative and criminal case 
materials, and photo and video materials. In addition, the report includes information received from 
participants of the human rights monitoring Facebook group #IHaveAChoice #ActivistsNotExtremists8, 
administered by the Open Dialogue Foundation with support from the Qaharman Human Rights Protection 
Foundation and the 405 human rights movement. The group, consisting of more than 3,500 participants from 
different cities of Kazakhstan, was established to collect information and provide assistance to victims for 
their participation in peaceful protests. 

 

  

 
8 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/ 

https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/
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2. POLITICAL PERSECUTION AND MASS ARBITRARY DETENTIONS IN KAZAKHSTAN 

 

In the Human Rights Report for 2019, the U.S. Department of State noted the existence of human rights 
issues in Kazakhstan such as: unlawful or arbitrary killing by or on behalf of the government; torture by and 
on behalf of the government; political prisoners; significant problems with the independence of the judiciary; 
restrictions on free expression, the press, and the internet; substantial interference with the rights of 
peaceful assembly and freedom of association; restrictions on political participation; significant acts of 
corruption; trafficking in persons; and the outlawing of independent trade unions9. 

In November 2019, as part of the UN Universal Periodic Review, the UK focused on its recommendation that 
Kazakhstan implement legislation and implement measures to protect freedom of assembly and association. 
The UK delegation also enquired about how the Government of Kazakhstan was ensuring fair justice10. 

 

Violent forceful dispersal of mass peaceful rallies 

Over the past 2.5 years, thousands of peaceful anti-government rallies have taken place in various regions 
of Kazakhstan. During this time the authorities have subjected more than 7,000 peaceful protesters to 
arbitrary detention by force. These are those who have been identified by human rights defenders who 
collect detention lists (in particular, the human rights organisations Qaharman, 405 and Open Dialogue 
Foundation). This is why, in reality, the number of detainees is even higher. Such massive arbitrary detentions 
of peaceful protesters have reached a level unprecedented in Kazakhstan's history. 

In particular, from May 2018 to September 2020, the following peaceful rallies took place, which ended in 
arbitrary detentions using brute force: 

¶ On 10 May 2018, more than 180 participants were detained for participation in a rally against torture 
and for the release of political prisoners. 

¶ On 23 June 2018, more than 200 people were detained for participation in a rally in support of free 
education. 

¶ On 6 July 2018, about 50 people were detained in order to prevent a planned rally in support of a 
credit amnesty. 

¶ On 27 February 2019, more than 200 people were detained at rallies demanding democratic change, 
fighting corruption and improving social welfare. 

¶ On 21 March 2019-22 March 2019, 1 May 2019 and 9 May 2019, rallies were held against the 
renaming of Astana to Nur-Sultan after Nazarbayev, demanding an end to political persecution and a 
boycott of the extraordinary presidential elections. In total, over 400 peaceful protesters were 
detained. 

¶ On 9-12 June 2019, people peacefully protested against systemic falsification in the presidential 
elections. According to official data alone, about 4,000 people were detained. 

¶ On the eve and during the days of peaceful protests 6 July 2019, 21 September 2019 and 26 October 
2019, more than 1,000 activists were detained. The protesters demanded the cancellation of the 

 
9 https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/ 
10 https://www.upr-info.org/en/review/Kazakhstan/Session-34---November-2019  

https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/
https://www.upr-info.org/en/review/Kazakhstan/Session-34---November-2019
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results of the presidential election, the removal of Nazarbayev from power, and opposed Chinese 
expansion.   

¶ On the eve and on the Day of Remembrance for Victims of Political Repression, 16 December 2019, 
the authorities detained more than 110 activists who demanded the release of political prisoners. 

¶ On 22 February 2020, peaceful protesters called for the resignation of Nursultan Nazarbayev and his 
retinue, and expressed dissatisfaction with the lack of democracy and justice. Over 220 activists were 
detained. 

¶ A minimum of 244 people were detained for participation in rallies on 25 February 2020, 27 February 
2020 and 1 March 2020. The protesters demanded punishment for the political murder of opposition 
activist Dulat Agadil, regime change and a termination of torture. 

¶ The participants of the rally on 6 June 2020 expressed their dissatisfaction with the ineffective state 
policy to counteract the Coronavirus pandemic, demanded improvement of social guarantees against 
the background of the pandemic, cessation of political persecution and punishment of those 
responsible for the murder of opposition activist Dulat Agadil. Over 300 people were detained for 
taking part in the rally. 

¶ Throughout the summer of 2020, activists using the Asar method (a Kazakhstani tradition of joint 
gratuitous work) helped to build a house for the family of Dulat Agadil, who was killed in the pre-trial 
detention facility.  On 24 July 2020, after the completion of the next stage of house construction, a 
group of activists walked from the house of Dulat Agadil to his grave, which is situated outside the 
village.  On 8 August 2020, in honour of the completion of a house for the family of the deceased, 
activists from different regions of Kazakhstan held a memorial ceremony in honour of Dulat Agadil in 
Talapker village, where he lived. A minimum of 183 people were prosecuted for taking part in the 
memorial ceremony in honour of Dulat Agadil (arrests, detentions, interrogations, pressure from 
special services), 96 of whom were subjected to administrative arrest and 38 to fines. In addition, at 
present, criminal proceedings have been initiated against at least 57 opposition activists. They are 
prosecuted for participating in the memorial ceremony in honour of Dulat Agadil, for providing his 
family with humanitarian assistance and for supporting the peaceful opposition movements of DCK 
and Koshe Partiyasy. Most of them have been charged with "participation in the activities of the 
organisation after it was declared extremist" (Article 405 Part 2 of the Criminal Code)11. 

¶ On 25 September 2020 peaceful protesters demanded a change of political regime, payment of social 
allowances and a credit amnesty in the context of the pandemic, and the abolition of unjustified 
restrictive quarantine measures. The authorities have once again resorted to massive arbitrary 
detentions. Human rights defenders managed to identify at least 162 people who were detained on 
the day of the rally, 25 September 2020. On the eve of the rally, the authorities arrested 16 activists 
and fined 7 more people. 

In addition to the mass meetings mentioned above, dozens of spontaneous and local actions, pickets, flash 
mobs and online protest challenges took place during this period. 

To disperse the rallies, the authorities involved police officers, special police units and internal troops, as well 
as internal troops equipment. At the same time, in most cases, members of the law enforcement agencies 
had no recognisable signs and concealed their faces.  

 
11 https://www.facebook.com/qaharman.kz.7/posts/331944268139383 

https://www.facebook.com/qaharman.kz.7/posts/331944268139383
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Police officers refused to introduce themselves, show their IDs or give the reason for arrest. They rudely 
grabbed the protesters, twisted their arms and legs and dragged them to the prisoner transport vehicles, 
partly dragging them along the asphalt. At the same time, the police used forceful grips and suffocating 
techniques. There have been recorded cases of protesters being beaten with batons, punched and kicked, 
including deliberate beatings - in situations where there was no resistance12. 

Many beaten peaceful rally participants were injured, including fractures, dislocations, bruises, hematomas 
and brain injuries, and were later hospitalised13.  

Parents with young children, elderly people and passers-by14 were also pushed into police buses. During the 
protests in 2019-2020 dozens of journalists were detained. There were numerous cases of unknown masked 
persons (so-called "titushky") appearing in places of mass arrest of protesters, in order to help to detain 
protesters and obstruct the work of journalists15. At the same time, law enforcement officials do not react 
to illegal actions by "titushky" in any way. 

Law enforcement authorities detained the participants of the rallies on their way to the planned meetings. 
In addition, there have been systematic cases when the authorities have resorted to preventive detentions 
before planned peaceful protests. On the eve and on the day of the protests, the police keep an eye on the 
houses of activists who regularly go to the protests. These activists are detained or summoned for 
questioning. Subpoenas for interrogations are often filled in on the spot by a police officer, although the law 
requires that the subpoena be properly executed by an investigator. 

Police officers often work together with NSC officers who act under fictitious names, always wear civilian 
clothes and often hide their faces under masks. During rallies, they monitor the dispersal of protesters and 
give detention instructions to the police. Some "committee members" act as provocateurs to create the 
appearance of a "non-peaceful character" of the action. In many cases, NSC officers are present during 
interrogations and participate in trials of activists. 

Against the backdrop of mass protests in Belarus and the Russian Khabarovsk Krai, the Kazakhstani 
authorities have tightened methods of persecuting activists. In July-August 2020 in Almaty, Nur-Sultan and 
Aktau, activists were detained and searched by armed officers of special police and NSC units. 

 

Interrogation and persecution for political views 

Detainees at peaceful rallies were taken to police stations and subjected to illegal interrogations about their 
political views and attitude towards authorities. The police take away the detainees' phones and check 
whether they are subscribed to the pages of opposition movements "Democratic Choice of Kazakhstan" or 
"Koshe Partiyasy" on social networks. Law enforcement officials intimidated detainees and forced them to 
write statements refusing "to take part in meetings" and at the same time "to support the policy of the 
tǊŜǎƛŘŜƴǘέ16.  

As a result of the monitoring, we have received information about several hundred peaceful protesters who 
were arbitrarily detained in police stations until late at night for 6-8 hours, and in some cases for more than 

 
12  https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9330,election-in-kazakhstan-gross-falsifications-and-mass-arrests-of-peaceful-protesters/   
13 https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9451,kazakhstan-after-the-6th-of-july-2019-authorities-persecute-and-imprison-the-participants-of-peaceful-
protests/  
14 https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/8949,collective-complaint-be-quiet-or-be-charged-with-extremism/   
15 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Jz9MGhMPj2s  
16 https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/8949,collective-complaint-be-quiet-or-be-charged-with-extremism/  

https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9330,election-in-kazakhstan-gross-falsifications-and-mass-arrests-of-peaceful-protesters/
https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9451,kazakhstan-after-the-6th-of-july-2019-authorities-persecute-and-imprison-the-participants-of-peaceful-protests/
https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9451,kazakhstan-after-the-6th-of-july-2019-authorities-persecute-and-imprison-the-participants-of-peaceful-protests/
https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/8949,collective-complaint-be-quiet-or-be-charged-with-extremism/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Jz9MGhMPj2s
https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/8949,collective-complaint-be-quiet-or-be-charged-with-extremism/
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12 hours. According to Kazakhstani legislation, in the event of an administrative violation, the detention can 
last no longer than three hours (Article 622 of the Code of Administrative Offences).  

Many detainees were not allowed to eat, drink or use the toilet for several hours, which amounts to ill-
treatment. Lawyers were not allowed to visit them and they were deprived of the right to call their relatives. 
Most of the detainees were not given any documents regarding their arrest, search and interrogation. 

Court sessions in the case of detained peaceful assembly participants almost always end with convictions. 
Courts often take place late in the evening or at night and last only a few minutes. Detainees are usually 
only provided with state lawyers who do not defend their rights before the court. 

For example, 677 people were placed under administrative arrest for participating in peaceful protests on 9-
12 June 2019. They were tried at night, without lawyers, behind closed doors, right in police stations (so-
called "mobile courts"). Prosecutors and judges arrived at the police stations. The courts were rushed and 
often lasted less than 5 minutes. Even the appearance of separation of powers was ignored, as the courts 
were held within the closed territory of the bodies of executive power, where it is impossible to ensure 
proper examination of evidence and interviewing of witnesses. 

In addition, due to the non-adversarial courts, which were held at night and lasted from 3 to 15 minutes, 
dozens of activists were sentenced to arrests and fines for their participation in the memorial ceremony in 
honour of the murdered opposition activist Dulat Agadil. 

 

aŀǎǎ ǇŜǊǎŜŎǳǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǇŜŀŎŜŦǳƭ ƻǇǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 5/Y ŀƴŘ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ 

Detentions of peaceful assembly participants and persecutions of civil society representatives increased after 
the authorities declared the peaceful opposition movements Democratic Choice of Kazakhstan (DCK) and 
άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ŀǎ ϦŜȄǘǊŜƳƛǎǘϦΦ Both decisions were made secretly, and investigative actions and courts 
were held without the participation of the representatives from Democratic Choice of Kazakhstan (DCK) 
and "Koshe Partiyasy". They were deprived of their right to defense. 

The DCK opposition movement started its activity in April 2017. The purpose of the DCK was to change the 
authoritarian Kazakhstani regime through peaceful protests and to build a parliamentary republic. On 13 
March 2018, the Yesilsky District Court of Nur-Sultan, granted a petition of the General Prosecutor's Office 
to recognize the DCK as "extremist". At that time, there were more than 100,000 members of the DCK in the 
Telegram chat. The court's decision states that the DCK άcreates a negative image of power", "incites to 
hatred" and "encourages political disobedience"17. The European Parliament has recognized the DCK as a 
peaceful movement18. 

¢ƘŜ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ƻǇǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘ was established in various cities in Kazakhstan in February 
2020. On their Telegram chat, activists peacefully discussed social and political issues. As of 19 May 2020, 
there were 177,456 people on the chat. The activists sharply criticized the government's actions to keep 
silence on the real scale and consequences of the pandemic in Kazakhstan, which was one of the main 
reasons for their persecution. On 19 May 2020, the Yesilsky District Court of Nur-Sultan, at the request of 
ǘƘŜ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ tǊƻǎŜŎǳǘƻǊΩǎ hŦŦƛŎŜΣ ǎŜŎǊŜǘƭȅ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ŀǎ ŀƴ άŜȄǘǊŜƳƛǎǘέ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 
banned its activities in Kazakhstan. 

Neither law enforcement agencies nor the court provided the activists of the "Koshe Partiyasy" with a court 
decision. ¢ƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǘ ŘŜƴƛŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘǎΩ ǊƛƎƘǘ ƻŦ ŀǇǇŜŀƭΣ ǎǘŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜȅ ǿŜǊŜ ŀƭƭŜƎŜŘƭȅ άƴƻǘ ŀ ǇŀǊǘȅ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 

 
17 https://www.facebook.com/gulnara.ju/posts/1549569151855938  
18 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2019-0203_EN.html  

https://www.facebook.com/gulnara.ju/posts/1549569151855938
https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2019-0203_EN.html
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ŎŀǎŜΣέ ŀƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜǎŜ ǾŜǊȅ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǇŜǊǎŜŎǳǘŜŘ ōȅ b{/ ŀƴŘ aL! ŀƎŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘheir participation in the 
άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘΦ 

The authorities incriminate activists with "criminal acts" such as "posts on social networks that discredit the 
Head of State and the current government" and "shouting out ideas at meetings that form a negative image 
of government"19. The authorities prosecute activists for "positive approval" and support of the DCK and 
ƛǘǎ ƭŜŀŘŜǊ aǳƪƘǘŀǊ !ōƭȅŀȊƻǾ ƻƴ ǎƻŎƛŀƭ ƴŜǘǿƻǊƪǎΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ŦƻǊ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘΦ 
For this purpose, activists are charged with "participation in the activities of the organisation after it has been 
declared extremist" (Article 405 of the Criminal Code). In Kazakhstan's detention facilities, several activists 
from the DCK have been subjected to ill-treatment20. They were asked to testify about the activities of the 
opposition movement, refuse lawyers and "repent"21. 

At present, the Expert Council of Human Rights Defenders of Kazakhstan currently includes a minimum of 
20 political prisoners, most of whom are impǊƛǎƻƴŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ 5/Y ƻǊ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέΥ  

¶ Asset Abishev, Almat Zhumagulov, Kenzhebek Abishev, Serik Idyryshev, Medet Yeseneyev and Askar 
Ibrayev are serving prison sentences on charges of supporting the opposition movement DCK. 

¶ Activists Askhat Zheksibayev, Kairat Klyshev, Abai Begimbetov, Askar Nurmaganov, Marat 
Duysenbiyev, Baghdat Baktybayev, Murat Baimagambetov are under pre-trial arrest on charges of 
ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ƻǇǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŀƴŘ ŦŀŎŜ ǳǇ ǘƻ ǘǿƻ ȅŜŀǊǎ ƛƴ prison.  

¶ Among other political prisoners, Aron Atabek, Max Bokayev, Yerzhan Yelshibayev and Sanavar 
Zakirova are serving their prison sentences because of their social activities. Ruslan Guinatullin, Igor 
Chuprina and Igor Sychev22 are imprisoned because of their publications on social networks.  

There is a great risk that the list of political prisoners could be expanded, as at least 57 criminal cases were 
initiated in August-hŎǘƻōŜǊ нлнл ǳƴŘŜǊ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ плр ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ /ƻŘŜ ŦƻǊ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέΦ 
One of the activists, Nurbol Onerkhan, is currently under house arrest awaiting trial23.  

On 16 October 2020 24 deputies of the European Parliament criticized in their letters the decision of the 
authorities of Kazakhstan to recognize the peaceful movement "Koshe Partiyasy" as "extremist", as well as 
political persecution of dozens of activists from this movement. MEPs emphasized that prosecutions for 
peaceful discussions of political and social issues on the Internet are an abuse of legislation on "extremism".  
Earlier UN Special Rapporteur Fionnuala D. Ní Aoláin expressed concern about the practice in Kazakhstan of 
"using legislation to counter extremism against political groups and critical voices"24. 

In addition, more than 25 activists in Kazakhstan have already been sentenced to restriction of liberty for 
supporting the DCK. Additional restrictions have been imposed on them, including a ban on going to meetings 
and using social networks. Thus, the authorities are blocking their public activities. 

Another tool for persecuting opposition activists was the blocking of their bank accounts as part of 
investigations into cases involving "extremist" Articles (including under Article 405 of the Criminal Code). For 

 
19 Seized Kazakhstani flags, as well as blue ribbons and balloons (blue is the colour of DCK symbolic) were attached to the case file as material 
evidence. During interrogations, some activists were asked to say on camera that they were calling on them "not to support" the DCK and 
Koshe Partiyasi, as well as "not to go to rallies".  
20 Kenzhebek Abishev, Almat Zhumagulov, Ablovas Dzhumayev, Oksana Shevchuk, Zhazira Demeuova.  
21 https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/26432,list-of-kazakhstani-political-prisoners-and-other-politically-prosecuted-persons/  
22 There is no accurate information on Igor Sychev at the moment. It is possible that his sentence has already come to an end.  
23 In the status of a suspect are: Galiya Aminova, Roza Bekesheva, Alibek Moldin, Bauyrzhan Sarkulov (Aktobe); Aigul Utepova, Anna Shukeyeva, 
Yerbol Yeskhozhin, Aibek Sabitov (Nur-Sultan); Aigul Akberdiyeva (Aktau); Nurbol Onerkhan (Birlik); Murat Sapiyev (Aksakai); Kanat Dzhakupov 
(Almaty); Ruslan Nurkanov (Kasym). 
24 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24620&LangID=E  

https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/26432,list-of-kazakhstani-political-prisoners-and-other-politically-prosecuted-persons/
https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24620&LangID=E


13 

 

example, in March 2020, the Police Department of Almaty blocked the bank accounts of more than 15 
activists25. 

Thus, all undesirable opposition activists who seek the resignation of the government and a peaceful change 
of power are persecuted, referring to decisions to ban the DCK and the "Koshe Partiyasy". In fact, the 
authorities equate dissent with "extremism".  

In the last four years, only 29 Kazakhstani political prisoners have been released26. Some of them have 
served their full sentence and some have been released early due to consistent international pressure on the 
diplomatic and political levels. However, once released, they remain under the thumb of authorities and, in 
fear of retrial, cannot express criticism of the authorities. 

In Kazakhstan, over 99.8% of sentences result in convictions27. In cases of political prisoners, the authorities 
make it a condition that they will be released or get reduction of the sentence if they "'plead guilty'. Over 
the past 7 years, the US Department of State has indicated in its annual reports that there is no fair trial in 
Kazakhstan, especially in politically motivated cases28,29. The US Department of State emphasizes that in 
Kazakhstan, the executive branch controls the legislature, the judiciary, and local authorities30. 

 

Systemic nature of torture in Kazakhstan 

Torture in Kazakhstan and impunity for its use are widespread and systemic 31,32. The Coalition of 
International NGOs Against Torture records approx. 200 cases of torture in detention centres and prisons in 
Kazakhstan every year33. In October 2019, human rights activists reported that every day and a half one 
person dies in Kazakhstan's detention facilities as a result of suicide, torture or tuberculosis34. Most torture 
cases are closed due "to lack of evidence".  According to statistics, on average, only 2% of torture cases in 
Kazakhstan reach the stage of consideration in court35. The number of cases in which persons involved in 
torture are actually brought to justice is even fewer. The Kazakhstani authorities refuse to implement the 
UN recommendations on review of cases and on compensation to torture victims Iskander Yerimbetov36 and 
Mukhtar Dzhakishev37, as well as on the release of political prisoner Max Bokayev38. 

At the end of October, a case of torture was reported against an activist who had been detained on the day 
of a peaceful rally on 25 September 2020. The case concerns the activist Asylzhan Asabayev from Zhanabazar 
village in Turkestan Region, who had previously been persecuted for taking part in a memorial ceremony in 
honour of the killed opposition activist Dulat Agadil. On 25 September 2020 Asabaev was detained. He was 

 
25 https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=197848484882296&set=a.100542171279595&type=3  
26  Among those released: opposition politician Vladimir Kozlov; journalists Guzal Baidalnova, Seitkazy Matayev, Aset Matayev, Yaroslav 
Golyshkin and Amangeldy Batyrbekov; activists Zinada Mukhortova, Ardak Ashim, Talgat Ayan, Ablovas Dzhumayev, Sanat Bukenov, Zhambyl 
Kobeisinov, Yerzhan Orazalinov, Makhambet Abzhan, Sanat Dosov, Anuar Ashiraliyev, Bolatkhan Zhunusov, Serik Zhahin, Gulzipa Dzhukerova, 
Jazira Demeuova, Oksana Shevchuk; trade union leaders Amin Yeleusinov and Nurbek Kushakbayev; scientific researcher Sayat Ibrayev; torture 
victim Iskander Erimbetov and victims of the criminal case against Yerimbetov Dmitry Pestov and Vasilina Sokolenko; refugees from Xinjiang 
Caster Musakhanuly, Murager Alimuly. 
27 https://newtimes.kz/eksklyuziv/94912-tolko-1-cheloveka-iz-1000-podsudimykh-sudy-opravdyvayut-v-kazakhstane-chto-ob-etom-govoryat-
yuristy  
28 https://www.state.gov/reports/2018-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/  
29 https://www.state.gov/reports/2017-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/  
30 https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/  
31 https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur57/3345/2016/en/  
32 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/WG.6/34/KAZ/3  
33 https://uprdoc.ohchr.org/uprweb/downloadfile.aspx?filename=6872&file=EnglishTranslation  
34 http://mindet.kz/ru/2019/10/10/shormanbayev-pravo-na-zhizn-issledovanie/  
35 https://www.notorture.kz/spravka-koalicyi-protiv-pytok-po-ekstradicyi-tungishbayeva/  
36 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Detention/Opinions/Session83/A_HRC_WGAD_2018_67.pdf  
37 https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CCPR%2fC%2f115%2fD%2f2304%2f2013&Lang=en  
38 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Detention/Opinions/Session78/A_HRC_WGAD_2017_16.pdf  

https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=197848484882296&set=a.100542171279595&type=3
https://newtimes.kz/eksklyuziv/94912-tolko-1-cheloveka-iz-1000-podsudimykh-sudy-opravdyvayut-v-kazakhstane-chto-ob-etom-govoryat-yuristy
https://newtimes.kz/eksklyuziv/94912-tolko-1-cheloveka-iz-1000-podsudimykh-sudy-opravdyvayut-v-kazakhstane-chto-ob-etom-govoryat-yuristy
https://www.state.gov/reports/2018-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/
https://www.state.gov/reports/2017-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/
https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/kazakhstan/
https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur57/3345/2016/en/
https://undocs.org/A/HRC/WG.6/34/KAZ/3
https://uprdoc.ohchr.org/uprweb/downloadfile.aspx?filename=6872&file=EnglishTranslation
http://mindet.kz/ru/2019/10/10/shormanbayev-pravo-na-zhizn-issledovanie/
https://www.notorture.kz/spravka-koalicyi-protiv-pytok-po-ekstradicyi-tungishbayeva/
https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Detention/Opinions/Session83/A_HRC_WGAD_2018_67.pdf
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CCPR%2fC%2f115%2fD%2f2304%2f2013&Lang=en
https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Detention/Opinions/Session78/A_HRC_WGAD_2017_16.pdf
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held for 24 hours at the Kazygurt District Police Department. There the police took him to the basement of 
the gym, where they beat him on his kidneys and ribs, demanding that he no longer go to rallies. The activist 
was threatened that they would put a bag over his head and strangle him39. Asabayev's relatives receive 
threats that he could go to prison. 

 

Political repression during the COVID-19 pandemic 

Kazakhstan, like a number of other authoritarian states (China, Iran, Turkey and Russia), is carrying out 
political repressions under the pretext of the Coronavirus pandemic. In Kazakhstan, the fight against the 
infection was led not by physicians, but by the NSC and law enforcement agencies. Following the example of 
China, the Kazakhstani authorities have resorted to concealing information about the scale and 
consequences of the pandemic in the country.  

Medical doctors and civil society activists constantly report concealment of the real extent of the epidemic, 
corruption, a lack of personal protective equipment, a lack of adequate social support for doctors, problems 
ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŘƛŎŀƭ ŦƛŜƭŘ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŜŦŦƛŎƛŜƴŎȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘƛŜǎΩ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎΦ CƻǊ ŘƻƛƴƎ ǘƘƛǎΣ ǘƘŜȅ ŀǊŜ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘŜŘ ǘƻ ŘŜǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ 
and arrest, criminal and administrative liability, intimidation and information attacks. Medical doctors are 
also threatened with disciplinary sanctions and dismissal40. 

Additional instruments for political repression were provided by the state of emergency, which lasted almost 
two months in Kazakhstan, from 15 March 2020 to 11 May 2020. During this period, more than 16,000 people 
were detained for violation of the state of emergency41. 

Opposition activists, bloggers and human rights defenders were arbitrarily accused of "violating the state 
of emergency" and "provoking the violation of law and order in the conditions of emergency". They were 
arbitrarily arrested and fined for criticizing the authorities on social networks (more than 80 cases were 
recorded during the emergency period)42.  

During the state of emergency, the government of Kazakhstan hastily adopted a new law "On the procedure 
for organizing and holding peaceful assemblies". On 25 May 2020 President Tokayev signed it. Bodies of the 
UN43, the OSCE44, deputies of the European Parliament45, the U.S. Department of State, international 
associations of lawyers46 and human rights organizations47,48 repeatedly emphasized that the law proposed 
by the authorities fundamentally does not meet international standards, excessively restricts the right to 
peaceful assembly and fundamentally contradicts international obligations of Kazakhstan. However, the 
authorities have openly disregarded all recommendations of the international community49. 

 

 
39 https:// www.facebook.com/groups/2613737598955074/permalink/2644177715911062/  
40 https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/31699,kazakhstan-political-oppression-during-the-pandemic/  
41 https://www.coronavirus2020.kz/ru/bolee-16-tysyach-kazahstancev-zaderzhali-za-narushenie-rezhima-chp_a3643370  
42 For example, Azamat Baikenov, a blogger, received a year of freedom restrictions, while Arman Khassenov was held in a pre-trial detention 
facility and convicted to 3 years of freedom restrictions for "public insult and violation of honour" of Nursultan Nazarbayev. 
43 
https://spcommreports.ohchr.org/TMResultsBase/DownLoadPublicCommunicationFile?gId=25194&fbclid=IwAR2LRg2yN_hd97KaaEotaSrLF36D
Lj3jDZSmhhSBi4dgsd1Je_VL4E8ULyE  
44 https://www.osce.org/odihr/452095  
45 https://bureau.kz/novosti/chleny-ep-obratilis-k-tokaevu/  
46 https://www.icj.org/kazakhstan-draft-law-on-peaceful-assemblies-should-be-reconsidered/  
47 https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/EUR5722602020ENGLISH.pdf  
48 https://www.omct.org/human-rights-defenders/urgent-interventions/kazakhstan/2020/05/d25866/  
49 The authorities have left the de facto permissive nature of the meetings. Moreover, according to the law, all peaceful assemblies can only be 
held in "specialised places" defined by the local authorities. This norm has been subject to a wave of criticism from the international 
community. 
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Prosecution of human rights defenders 

Human rights defenders Dana Zhanay, Altynay Tuksikova (Qaharman Foundation for Human Rights) and 
Anna Shukeyeva (Human Rights Movement 405), who monitor the observance of human rights in the 
context of the pandemic and the mass arbitrary detention of peaceful protesters, have faced repeated 
forceful detentions, interrogations, fines and threats from the authorities of Kazakhstan. On 12 October 
2020, Anna Shukeyeva was sentenced to a fine of around 140 euro on a criminal charge of "public insult to a 
representative of the authorities". (Article 378 of the Criminal Code). 

Another Qaharman activist, Zuhra Nariman from Aktobe, is being prosecuted. In May-August 2020, she was 
repeatedly summoned for questioning by police officers and prosecutors in a criminal case on her 
"participation in the activities of the organisation after it being declared extremist" (Article 405 of the 
Criminal Code). Nariman is accused of criticizing the authorities and calling for rallies on social networks. Her 
relatives are under pressure from the law enforcement agencies50. 

On 17 September 2020, Kazakhstani activists announced the creation of the Veritas human rights movement, 
which aims to monitor the observance of Kazakhstan's commitments on human rights, environment and 
health51. Immediately afterwards, an increased systematic prosecution of activists took place, in particular 
Alma Nurusheva, Nazym Serikpekova, Roza Musayeva and Aliya Zhakupova from Nur-Sultan. They were 
prosecuted for humanitarian aid campaign for the family of the murdered opposition activist Agadil 
(Nurusheva was arrested for 7 days and Musayeva and Zhakupova were fined about 190 euro). The activists 
are also being prosecuted for monitoring violations of the right to peaceful assembly in connection with the 
peaceful protest on 25 September 2020. Nurusheva was detained at night on 28 September 2020, while 
Musayeva was detained and interrogated on 2 October 2020 and 11 October 2020. 

In October 2020, it became known that criminal proceedings had been initiated against Serikpekova and 
Musayeva under Article 378 of the Criminal Code ("public insult to a representative of the authorities"). They 
are accused of shouting "dogs of Nazarbayev" at the police station on 25 February 2020, after they were 
detained at a peaceful rally demanding an investigation into the murder of the opposition activist Agadil. 
Criminal prosecution intensified in October 2020, immediately after the activists announced the creation of 
the Veritas human rights movement. 

On 17 October 2020 and 18 October 2020 Veritas human rights defenders tried to hold a humanitarian aid 
campaign for families of Kazakhstani political prisoners. However, about 100 officers of special police and 
internal troops were pulled to the site of the action and disrupted it. They prevented anyone from handing 
over the humanitarian aid and rudely detained activists Roza Musayeva, Alma Nurusheva, Nazym 
Serikpekova, Gulzhanat Temirkhan and volunteers Ainura Myrzaliyeva, Altyn Lesbayev and Aibek Sabitov. 
Activists presented children's drawings at auction, but on 17 October 2020 the police officers confiscated 
them (having drawn up a relevant protocol), and on 18 October 2020 they were torn apart52. 

One of the initiators of the Bostandyq Kz human rights movement, Daryn Khassenov from Bayanaul, has 
been prosecuted. The movement was founded in September 2020, and in the same month, Farhat Rakhimov, 
Deputy Head of the Bayanaul District Police Department, filed a lawsuit against activist Khassenov aimed at 
protecting his own honour and dignity, demanding US$2374 as "moral damage". In August 2020, in a video 

 
50 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2748608995458366/ ; 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2753180848334514/  
51 https://www.facebook.com/groups/2613737598955074/  
52 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2818630071789591/  
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message on Facebook, Daryn Khassenov called on police officers to protect the rights and freedoms of people 
of Kazakhstan and said that Rakhimov "sold his people for a salary"53. 

Seven lawsuits have been filed against human rights activist Elena Semenova, head of the public organisation 
"We Are Against Torture", by prison management. The courts of first instance have already satisfied 3 claims 
against Semenova, and 3 claims have been withdrawn. Semenova receives evidence of torture, ill-treatment 
and failure to provide medical assistance from prisoners. After that she makes these facts public and 
demands an investigation. Representatives of the prisons demand that she recant reports of torture and 
apologise for "insulting [their] honour and dignity". Obviously, through a series of lawsuits, the authorities 
are trying to silence Semenova and block her human rights activities. Earlier, in 2018, the Kazakhstani 
authorities charged Semenova with "disseminating knowingly false information" for speaking in the 
European Parliament about the situation with tortures in Kazakhstan. Against the backdrop of international 
publicity, the case was dismissed.  

In two letters to the authorities of Kazakhstan on 16 October 2020, 24 members of the European Parliament 
defended the prosecuted human rights defenders Zhanay, Tuksikova, Shukeyeva, Serikpekova, Khassenov, 
Nurusheva, Nariman and Semenova. MEPs also supported the demands of Kazakhstani civil society for a full 
investigation into the deaths of activists Dulat Agadil, Amanbike Khairolla and Serik Orazov, who were 
subjected to political prosecution. Representatives of the European Parliament expressed dissatisfaction 
with the fact that at least 39 activists are being prosecuted for participating in the memorial ceremony in 
honour of Agadil and humanitarian aid campaign for his family. "The government's stated intention to 
transform Kazakhstan into a 'listening state' is not in line with the appalling human rights situation," MEPs 
said54,55. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
53 https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php?story_fbid=319517852532443&id=100034226925166  
54 https:// www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2819727411679857/  
55 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2814841118835153  
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3. STRICT POWER HIERARCHY AND DIRECT RESPONSIBILITY OF TOP OFFICIALS FOR GROSS 
HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS 

 

In different regions of Kazakhstan, mass arrests and criminal prosecutions of peaceful assembly participants 
followed the same pattern. Law enforcement agencies acted synchronously: the same violations were 
recorded in all cities. Representatives of the National Security Committee, the Ministry of Internal Affairs and 
the Prosecutor's Office participated in detentions and interrogations. Individual agents often told activists 
that they were "following orders".  

This shows that the gross human rights violations mentioned in this report are politically coordinated by the 
highest state officials: the Chairman of the National Security Committee, the Minister of the Interior, the 
General Prosecutor. Moreover, all of them carry out instructions and report to Nursultan Nazarbayev 
(Chairman of the Security Council and First President of Kazakhstan) and Kassym-Jomart Tokayev (President 
of Kazakhstan). As former Interior Minister Kalmukhanbet Kasymov said, "as we are ordered, so we work"56. 

Not being formally a representative of the executive or legislative power, Nursultan Nazarbayev has levers 
of influence and controls the activities of all key government bodies, including control over the heads of 
the Ministry of Internal Affairs, the General Prosecutor's Office and the NSC.  

 

Full Legal Name of Perpetrator: Nazarbayev Nursultan Abishevich 

Country: Kazakhstan 

Title or Position: Lifetime Chairman of the Kazakhstan Security Council. 
10 December 1991 - 20 March 2019 τ President of Kazakhstan. 24 April 
1990 - 10 December 1991 τ President of the Kazakh SSR. From 20 July 
2000 to the present time τ First President of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan (Yelbasy). February 1990 - April 1990 τ Chairman of the 
Supreme Soviet of the Kazakh SSR. 1990-1991 τ Member of the USSR 
Federation Council. 1989 - January 1992 τ People's Deputy of the 
USSR. June 1989 - August 1991 τ First Secretary of the Central 
Committee of the Communist Party of Kazakhstan.  

Date of birth: 6 July 1940 

Other Known Personal Identifiers: legal address of the Office of the First President of Kazakhstan: Republic 
of Kazakhstan, 010000, Astana city, Yesil district, 36 street, building 10. Has been awarded with many state 
awards. 

 

Nursultan Nazarbayev's role in the organisational structure of the institution and his authority over the 
final perpetrators of gross human rights violations 

In March 2019, Nursultan Nazarbayev, who had been a President for 30 years, announced his resignation. 
An extraordinary presidential election was held on 9 June 2019, in which Nazarbayev's successor, Kassym-

 
56 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/kazakhstan-mvd-kalmukhanbet-kasymov/29543779.html  

https://rus.azattyq.org/a/kazakhstan-mvd-kalmukhanbet-kasymov/29543779.html


18 

 

Jomart Tokayev, was expected to win. The OSCE stated that there were systemic violations in the elections57, 
but the newly elected President called the OSCE conclusions "politically biased". 

Tokayev is a person from the system who guaranteed the status quo for the ruling elites. "Three and a half 
years ago, Nursultan Nazarbayev told me that "you will be the next President". It's a matter of time. We 
were choosing the moment" - Tokayev said in an interview after the election58. Kassym-Jomart Tokayev, 
having become a President, continues Nazarbayev's policy and strengthens the authoritarian regime. 

Over the past few years, the configuration of power in the state has been changed so that for some time the 
new President will only be the second most influential figure in the state. After stepping down as President, 
Nursultan Nazarbayev has remained a key figure in the power system in Kazakhstan. Nazarbayev was given 
the right to govern the country for life as President of the Security Council of the Republic of Kazakhstan.  

Nursultan Nazarbayev was awarded the title of "The First President of the Republic of Kazakhstan - Leader 
of the Nation" (Yelbasy) by a special Constitutional Act, which was adopted in 2000:  

¶ ¢ƘŜ ƭŀǿ ŜȄŜƳǇǘǎ bŀȊŀǊōŀȅŜǾ ŦǊƻƳ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅΣ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜǎ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǾƛƻƭŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩǎ 
property, gives instructions to erect monuments in his honour and imposes severe punishment for 
insulting his honour. It is not allowed to obstruct the lawful activities of the First President59. 

¶ According to the Constitutional Law, initiatives on the main directions of foreign and domestic policy 
are coordinated with Nazarbayev. 

¶ In addition, Nazarbayev has de facto control over Parliament. He also leads the Nur Otan Party, which 
has an absolute majority of seats in the lower house of parliament, the Mazhilis (84 out of 107). 
Moreover, the Assembly of the People of Kazakhstan (an advisory body to the President), which 
Nazarbayev heads for life, elects 9 members of the Mazhilis. 

¶ Nazarbayev (Yelbasy) is a member of the Constitutional Council and heads the Council of Kazakhstan. 
The Security Council, which Nazarbayev heads for life, is a key position he has occupied since he 
stepped down as President.  

The Security Council coordinates the implementation of a unified state policy in the field of national security 
ŀƴŘ ŘŜŦŜƴŎŜ άƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ǇǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ŘƻƳŜǎǘƛŎ ǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ ǎǘŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǘŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ Ŏƻƴǎǘƛǘǳǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎȅǎǘŜƳέΦ ¦ƴǘƛƭ 
2018, the Security Council had a consultative and advisory role. However, in June 2018, the Security Council 
Act60 was adopted, which significantly empowered this body. The Council has now been granted 
constitutional status and has been given broad supervisory powers over all public bodies. 

¶ The Council coordinates the activities of state security agencies and central and local executive 
bodies, as well as analysing draft laws and controlling the implementation of regulatory documents.  

¶ The Council is engaged in the discussion of candidates recommended for appointment as heads of 
state bodies subordinate and accountable to the President (including the heads of the NSC, the 
Ministry of Internal Affairs and the Prosecutor's Office). 

¶ The Council hears annual reports of the Government and the heads of state bodies.  

¶ Government bodies and officials of Kazakhstan are legally obligated to execute decisions taken by 
the Security Council or by the Chairman of the Security Council. 

 
57 https://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/kazakhstan/422501  
58 https://ru.euronews.com/video/2019/06/15/tokayev-i-am-not-going-to-change-direction  
59 http://www.akorda.kz/ru/official_documents/constitutional_laws/o-pervom-prezidente-respubliki-kazahstan-lidere-nacii  
60 https://online.zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=38039248#pos=18;-48  
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Information about the assets of Nursultan Nazarbayev and his family 

Having kept the state apparatus of Kazakhstan under his control for 30 years, Nursultan Nazarbayev has 
become one of the richest people in the world. According to various estimates, the wealth of the First 
President of Kazakhstan ranges from US$1.1 billion to over US$100 billion61. From time to time, information 
about Nazarbayev and his family's multi-million-dollar assets, elite real estate and luxury goods appears in 
the media. 

According to British law enforcement agencies, part of Nazarbayev's wealth was obtained by laundering the 
funds of the former son-in-law of the First President, Rakhat Aliyev, who in the aftermath of the war fell into 
disgrace with Nazarbayev. Aliyev died under mysterious circumstances in an Austrian prison in 2015. 
According to the British investigation, Aliyev "was involved in serious crimes while working in the civil service 
and afterwards", and his criminal proceeds became the source of funds for a number of offshore companies 
through which Nazarbayev's foreign real estate62 was acquired. Thus, British investigators found that 
Nursultan Nazarbayev's family was involved in the laundering of illegal funds. 

According to the British newspaper Metro, in 2008, Nazarbayev acquired one of the most expensive 
mansions in the UK at a cost of about US$65 millions63. At the same time, the property is in abandoned 
condition64. 

In May 2019, the High Court of London froze the property of Nazarbayev's eldest daughter Dariga 
Nazarbayeva and his grandson Nurali Aliyev65. The reason for this was an investigation by the British National 
/ǊƛƳŜ !ƎŜƴŎȅΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǎǳǎǇŜŎǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ bŀȊŀǊōŀȅŜǾΩǎ Ŧŀmily of buying real estate with money obtained through 
criminal activity. British law enforcement agencies spotted 2 mansions and 2 flats of the First President's 
family purchased in 2008 and 201066. The total value of the property is about US$101 millions. In April 2020, 
Nazarbayev managed to obtain the cancellation of the seizure of his real estate67. 

Forbes Magazine estimates Dariga Nazarbayeva's wealth at US$595 millions, which makes her one of the 
richest people in Kazakhstan68. Nazarbayev's grandson Nurali Aliyev is also one of the richest people in 
Kazakhstan. Forbes estimates his wealth at US$219 millions69. 

The middle daughter of Nursultan Nazarbayev, Dinara, together with her husband Timur Kulibayev, owns 
Bellerive Castle in Switzerland. According to local media, the value of the property is about US$63 millions70. 
In addition, Nazarbayev's family owns real estate in Geneva worth about US$75 millions. Forbes magazine 
estimates that the total wealth of Nazarbayev's daughter and her husband is US$6.2 billion71. 

According to media reports, Nazarbayev's younger brother Bolat owns a fortune of US$15 billion, which he 
received from the First President72. According to the New York Observer, in 2008, Bolat Nazarbayev 
purchased a flat in New York for US$20 millions with an area of 360 square meters73. In the process of divorce, 
he gave his ex-wife Maira Kurmangalieva a house in New Jersey and jewellery valued at US$75 millions, as 

 
61 http://in24.org/opinion/18086  
62 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/kazakhstan-great-britain-nazarbayevs-mansions/30543243.html  
63 https://metro.co.uk/2019/10/09/inside-decaying-mansions-abandoned-uks-expensive-wasteland-10887978/  
64 https://www.facebook.com/RadioAzattyq/posts/10158420824459879  
65 https://www.bbc.com/russian/news-51746068  
66 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/ti-uk-ben-cowdock-on-uwo-and-order-assets-of-the-kazakhs-in-great-britain/30582435.html  
67 https://www.bbc.com/russian/news-52228282  
68 https://forbes.kz/ranking/object/111  
69 https://forbes.kz/leader/50_bogateyshih_biznesmenov_kazahstana_-_2019_1557664676/?  
70 https://qazaqtimes.com/en/article/67767  
71 https://forbes.kz/leader/50_bogateyshih_biznesmenov_kazahstana_-_2019_1557664676/?  
72 https://knews.kg/2019/08/15/bratishka-natsii-bolat-nazarbaev-iz-santehnikov-v-oligarhi/  
73 https://observer.com/2008/06/very-nice-bolat-brother-of-kazakhstan-dictator-buys-epic-plaza-spread/  
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his lawyers claimed74. In addition, Bolat Nazarbayev's youngest wife wears jewellery worth hundreds of 
thousands of dollars75,76. Photos and videos of Bolat Nazarbayev's luxurious family celebrations often appear 
on the network, which involve helicopters and police escorts, and cars are presented to participants of the 
celebration77.  

According to media reports, in 2015, Nursultan Nazarbayev's nephew, Nurbol Nazarbayev, presented his 
father with a hotel and restaurant complex worth US$3.5 millions, while working in public service78. 

 

Full Legal Name of Perpetrator: Massimov Karim Kazhimkanovich  

Country: Republic of Kazakhstan  

Title or Position: Since 8 September 2016 - present τ Chairman of the 
National Security Committee of Kazakhstan. 2 April 2014 - 8 September 
2016 τ Prime Minister of Kazakhstan. 2012 - 2014 τ Head of the 
Presidential Administration of Kazakhstan. 2007 - 2012 τ Prime Minister 
of Kazakhstan. 2006 - 2007 τ Deputy Prime Minister of Kazakhstan. April 
2006 - October 2006 τ Minister of Economy and Budget Planning of 
Kazakhstan. 2003 - 2006 τ Assistant to the President of Kazakhstan. 2001 

- 2003 τ Deputy Prime Minister of Kazakhstan. 2000 - 2001 τ Minister of Transport and Communications 
of Kazakhstan. 1997 - 2000 τ Chairman of the Board of the "People's Savings Bank of Kazakhstan". 

Date of Birth: 15 June 1965 

Other Known Personal Identifiers: Legal address of the National Security Committee: 010000, Republic of 
Kazakhstan, Astana, 20 Syganak Street. Awarded with several state awards. On 18 March 2019, the President 
of Kazakhstan awarded him the rank of Major General of National Security. In May 2020, Massimov was 
promoted to the rank of Lieutenant General of National Security. 

 

Karim Massimov's role in the organisational structure of the institution and his authority over the final 
perpetrators of gross human rights violations 

The work of the National Security Committee (NSC) is defined by a strict hierarchy and centralisation in 
decision-making. The work of the NSC is regulated by the Law on National Security Bodies79 and the 
Presidential Decree on Approval of the Regulations on the National Security Committee80. 

¶ According to the legislation, the NSC manages a unified system of national security bodies and in turn 
reports to the President of Kazakhstan. The NSC guides, coordinates and harmonises the actions of 
its territorial bodies and determines how they interact, encouraging or punishing local employees.  

¶ Its extensive powers allow the NSC to intervene in various areas of society and the state. In particular, 
ǘƘŜ b{/ άŦŀŎƛƭƛǘŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪέ όƛƴ ŦŀŎǘΣ ǇŀǊǘƛŎƛǇŀǘŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪύ ƻŦ ƭŀǿ ŜƴŦƻǊŎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƎŜƴŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ 
other state bodies in cases which, according to the NSC, are related to national security or national 

 
74 https://knews.kg/2019/08/15/bratishka-natsii-bolat-nazarbaev-iz-santehnikov-v-oligarhi/  
75 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2775388306113768/  
76 https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=G2Ja9ApEaSA  
77 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/the-nazarbaevs-go-wild-as-kazakhstan-burns/30231678.html  
78 http://www.compromat.ru/page_36265.htm  
79 https://online.zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=1005971#pos=5;-245  
80 https://online.zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=1005395#pos=8;-253  
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interests of the state. The U.S. Department of State has noted the growing influence of the NSC on 
various aspects of life in Kazakhstan, as well as reports of abuse by the NSC81. 

¶ Article 12 of the Regulation on the NSC provides, in particular, the following functions of the NSC: 
άŀǎǎƛǎǘƛƴƎ ǎǘŀǘŜ ōƻŘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ŀŘǾŀƴŎƛƴƎ ƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘǎέΣ άŀǎǎƛǎǘƛƴƎέ ƭŀǿ ŜƴŦƻǊŎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƎŜƴŎƛŜǎ ƛƴ 
άŜƴǎǳǊƛƴƎ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ǎŀŦŜǘȅΣ ƭŜƎŀƭƛǘȅέ ŀƴŘ άǎƻƭǾƛƴƎ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘŀǎƪǎ ŀǎǎƛƎƴŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜƳέΣ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛƴƎ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ 
cases which are under the authority of the NSC and implementing measures to counter terrorism and 
extremism. The NSC has its own detention facilities. The NSC can also block the work of social 
networks and access to Internet resources without a court decision. 

¶ The Chairman of the NSC, a position held by Massimov since September of 2016, is appointed by the 
President. He is vested with full authority in the institution: he directs all activities of the NSC and 
ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎ ǘƘŜ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘȅ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊǎΦ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ п ƻŦ ǘƘŜ [ŀǿ ƻƴ b{/ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜǎ άǎƛƴƎƭŜ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅέ ŀǎ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
basic principles of the activities of the national security institutions. Moreover, paragraph 14 of the 
Regulation on the NSC states tƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ /ƘŀƛǊƳŀƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ b{/ άǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜŀǊ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘŀǎƪǎ ŀƴŘ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ {ŜŎǳǊƛǘȅ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜέΦ IŜ ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭƭȅ 
responsible for any cases of corruption in the national security bodies (paragraph 16 of the Regulation 
on the NSC). 

¶ ¢ƘŜ /ƘŀƛǊƳŀƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ b{/ Ƙŀǎ ōǊƻŀŘ ǇƻǿŜǊǎΣ ƛƴ ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊ ƘŜ άƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ b{/έΣ 
άŀǇǇǊƻǾŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜ ŀƴŘ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ b{/ ǳƴƛǘǎέΣ άŀǇǇƻƛƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ŘƛǎƳƛǎǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ ƘŜŀŘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
b{/ ǳƴƛǘǎέ ŀƴŘ ƛƳǇƻǎŜǎ ŘƛǎŎƛǇƭƛƴŀǊȅ sanctions on NSC officers. In addition, the Chairman of the NSC 
άƛǎǎǳŜǎ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƻŦ ƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘȅ ōƻŘƛŜǎέΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǎǘ ŘŜǘŀƛƭŜŘ 
ǘŜŎƘƴƛŎŀƭ ŀǎǇŜŎǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΣ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎ άǊǳƭŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǎŜŀƭǎέ ƻǊ άŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻns of employee 
L5ǎέΦ 

¶ Thus, all key decisions in the NSC are made upon agreement and approval with Chairman Massimov. 
Therefore, as the NSC Chairman, Massimov knew or should have known about the human rights 
abuses committed by the NSC and failed to take measures to stop violations and punish those 
ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇŀǘǘŜǊƴ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŀŎǘƛŎŜ ƻŦ ƘǳƳŀƴ ǊƛƎƘǘǎ ŀōǳǎŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǇŀǊǘ ŀƴŘ ǇŀǊŎŜƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ b{/Ωǎ ŜƴǘƛǊŜ 
system, and those responsible for violations go unpunished. 

¶ One of the real functions of the NSC is to fight against critics and political opponents of the 
authorities. Both from the institutional point of view and from the point of view of actual practice, 
the Chairman of the NSC is responsible for systematic violations by the NSC.  

¶ During the state of emergency and in the conditions of the economic crisis, the budget of the National 
Security Committee was increased by 52 billion tenge (116 million euro).82 At the same time, the 
budget for the health care system, which, in such difficult times, fulfils the function of the common 
public good, was increased only by 78 billion tenge (170 million euro). On 5 July 2020, the authorities 
reported that they had additionally allocated 18.1 billion tenge (approx. 40 million euro)83 to fight the 
Coronavirus epidemic, which is almost three times less than the amount allocated for additional NSC 
funding. 

 

 

 
81 https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/277527.pdf  
82 https://online.zakon.kz/document/?doc_id=39519164#pos=863;27  
83 https://kursiv.kz/news/obschestvo/2020-07/v-kazakhstane-vlasti-vydelili-na-borbu-s-covid-19-bolshe-18-mlrd-tenge 

https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/277527.pdf
https://online.zakon.kz/document/?doc_id=39519164#pos=863;27
https://kursiv.kz/news/obschestvo/2020-07/v-kazakhstane-vlasti-vydelili-na-borbu-s-covid-19-bolshe-18-mlrd-tenge
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Information on the assets of Karim Massimov and his family 

Substantiated information about Massimov's assets is known mainly from journalistic investigations 
conducted on the basis of the so-ŎŀƭƭŜŘ άYŀȊŀƪƘ[ŜŀƪǎέΦ Lƴ !ǳƎǳǎǘ нлмпΣ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǇƻǊǘŀƭ 
kazaword.wordpress.com, unknown persons began to index and publish links to stolen correspondence of 
senior Kazakhstani officials and their representatives. The Kazakhstani authorities declared that email 
accounts of government officials had been hacked. 

These documents received broad reverberation among the European media (Le Temps84, Mediapart85, The 
Financial Times86, Le Nouvel Observateur87, Atlantico88, NZZ89, Yahoo France90, L'Espresso91, La Provence92, El 
Pais93) and human rights organisations94 (the Moscow Helsinki Group, the Russian Historical, Educational and 
IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎ {ƻŎƛŜǘȅ ΨaŜƳƻǊƛŀƭΩΣ ǘƘŜ !ƭƭ-wǳǎǎƛŀƴ aƻǾŜƳŜƴǘ ΨCƻǊ IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎΩ ŀƴŘ ƻǘƘŜǊǎύΦ 

Referring to the published correspondence, European and Kazakhstani media conducted journalistic 
investigations. Society was soon informed of incidents of corruption and abuse of power among senior 
officials of Kazakhstan. In particular, the case includes correspondence between Karim Massimov (then 
Prime Minister of Kazakhstan) and other persons with Talant Muratbayev, Massimov's assistant. 

In September 2020, it became known that the British Serious Fraud Office has started an investigation based 
on public correspondence. According to the emails of Massimov's assistant, in 2011 the British mining group 
άYŀȊŀƪƘƳȅǎέ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ aŀǎǎƛƳƻǾΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ with an expensive holiday in Paris, including a private jet, 
accommodation and entertainment95. The cost of this trip is estimated at US$100,00096. British investigators 
believe that this was a way for the company to corruptly promote its business interests. 

Moreover, according to the correspondence, in March 2012, Talant Muratbayev received a letter requesting 
the arrangement of Massimov's meeting with representatives of the American oil company Occidental 
Petroleum regarding investments in the Zhanaozen oil fields97. In addition, some investigations point to 
information that Prime Minister Massimov received 12 million euro for Kazakhstan's deal with the European 
company Eurocopter for the supply of French helicopters98. 

In August 2014, an invoice from the Cleveland Clinic was sent to Massimov's assistant for services in the 
amount of US$31,328.38. ¢ƘŜ ǊŜŎƛǇƛŜƴǘ ƻŦ ƳŜŘƛŎŀƭ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ǿŀǎ άaƛǎǘŜǊ ·έΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ŀ ƘƛƎƘ ǇǊƻōŀōƛƭƛǘȅ 
that it was Massimov99. 

 
84 https://www.letemps.ch/suisse/2015/04/17/opposants-kazakhs-piste-enlevement-passait-vevey  
85 https://www.mediapart.fr/journal/international/140216/loligarque-kazakh-abliazov-denonce-une-justice-francaise-lecoute-de-moscou  
86 http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/c22e50d0-c53e-11e3-89a9-00144feabdc0.html?siteedition=intl#axzz2z3jmERSi  
87 http://tempsreel.nouvelobs.com/societe/20140402.OBS2348/un-ex-oligarque-kazakh-un-avocat-francais-et-des-ecoutes-mysterieuses.html  
88 http://www.atlantico.fr/decryptage/affaire-ablyazov-gouvernement-francais-osera-t-dire-non-poutine-gilles-gaetner-2031551.html/page/0/2  
89 http://www.nzz.ch/schweiz/thomas-borer-im-sold-einer-fremden-macht-1.18465336  
90 https://fr.news.yahoo.com/le-parquet-favorable-%C3%A0-lextradition-loligarque-abliazov-185415169.html?guccounter=1 
91 http://espresso.repubblica.it/internazionale/2014/06/04/news/mukhtar-ablyazov-mi-vogliono-uccidere-1.168238?refresh_ce  
92 http://www.laprovence.com/article/actualites/2832613/lextradition-doligarques-annulee-sur-fond-de-piratage-a-la-cour-dappel-daix.html  
93 http://politica.elpais.com/politica/2014/04/05/actualidad/1396716473_968897.html  
94 http://en.odfoundation.eu/a/7508,prominent-russian-human-rights-activists-salled-for-preventing-the-extradition-of-mukhtar-ablyazov  
95 https://www.ft.com/content/7a14a6cf-067e-4f27-b8b2-82bf00c2477e  
96 https://www.thedailybeast.com/dollar100000-disneyland-trip-sparks-international-corruption-probe?ref=scroll  
97 http://stalingulag.top/item/31248-shesterka-nazarbaeva-karim-masimov-grabit-kazahstan  
98 https://kiar.center/judicial-probe-widens-to-french-secret-services-role-in-kazakhgate-deal/  
99 http://kraina-name.top/novosti/item/130709-saga-o-karime-masimove-na-zdorove-deneg-ne-zhalko  

https://www.letemps.ch/suisse/2015/04/17/opposants-kazakhs-piste-enlevement-passait-vevey
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http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/c22e50d0-c53e-11e3-89a9-00144feabdc0.html?siteedition=intl#axzz2z3jmERSi
http://tempsreel.nouvelobs.com/societe/20140402.OBS2348/un-ex-oligarque-kazakh-un-avocat-francais-et-des-ecoutes-mysterieuses.html
http://www.atlantico.fr/decryptage/affaire-ablyazov-gouvernement-francais-osera-t-dire-non-poutine-gilles-gaetner-2031551.html/page/0/2
http://www.nzz.ch/schweiz/thomas-borer-im-sold-einer-fremden-macht-1.18465336
https://fr.news.yahoo.com/le-parquet-favorable-%C3%A0-lextradition-loligarque-abliazov-185415169.html?guccounter=1
http://espresso.repubblica.it/internazionale/2014/06/04/news/mukhtar-ablyazov-mi-vogliono-uccidere-1.168238?refresh_ce
http://www.laprovence.com/article/actualites/2832613/lextradition-doligarques-annulee-sur-fond-de-piratage-a-la-cour-dappel-daix.html
http://politica.elpais.com/politica/2014/04/05/actualidad/1396716473_968897.html
http://en.odfoundation.eu/a/7508,prominent-russian-human-rights-activists-salled-for-preventing-the-extradition-of-mukhtar-ablyazov
https://www.ft.com/content/7a14a6cf-067e-4f27-b8b2-82bf00c2477e
https://www.thedailybeast.com/dollar100000-disneyland-trip-sparks-international-corruption-probe?ref=scroll
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https://kiar.center/judicial-probe-widens-to-french-secret-services-role-in-kazakhgate-deal/
http://kraina-name.top/novosti/item/130709-saga-o-karime-masimove-na-zdorove-deneg-ne-zhalko


23 

 

Some media reported that Massimov had bought real estate for his daughter in Paris and that he was willing 
to buy an apartment for US$7.5 millions in Singapore100,101. In 2008, Massimov confirmed to the U.S. 
ambassador the information published in an article in the Wall Street Journal that he co-owns a company in 
Singapore102. 

It was widely reported that in 2012, Massimov had exported three of Napoleon Bonaparte's letters from 
France, which cost the Prime Minister 97,500 euro paid in cash103. Mass media published the airline tickets 
of Massimov's wife and children, according to which they often flew (and probably continue to fly) to the US 
in first class, and the price of a ticket for one family member is more than US$15 thousands104. 

On 01 October 2020, the Financial Times published an investigation105 into the mysterious deaths of former 
top managers of Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation (ENRC), a large metallurgical and mining holding 
that is developing deposits in Kazakhstan. ENRC was founded by three billionaires from Kazakhstan - 
Alexander Mashkevich, Alidzhan Ibragimov and Patokh Shodiyev. They became powerful during the reign of 
Nursultan Nazarbayev. 

For 7 years, the British authorities have been investigating facts that may indicate extensive corruption and 
fraud within ENRC Holding related to the acquisition of the deposits. In recent years, several former top 
managers of the holding who may have had information about corruption and who were considered 
potential witnesses by the British investigation have died in unclear circumstances. Their deaths show signs 
of murder. As the FT notes, the three founding oligarchs of the holding deny any allegations of corruption or 
death. 

In 2007, when Karim Massimov was Prime Minister, the Kazakhstani government owned 24.8% of the ENRC 
holding. Alexander Mashkevich participated in the work meetings of Karim Massimov and asked the then 
Prime Minister to draw attention to tariff policy issues within the Eurasian Economic Union, on which ENRC 
Holding also depended106. 

 

Full Legal Name of Perpetrator: Abish Samat Satybaldyuly 

Country: Kazakhstan 

Position: First Deputy Chairman of the National Security 
Committee since 25 December 2015 to the present time. 
March 2013 - 25 December 2015 τ Deputy Chairman of the 
National Security Committee. November 2011 - March 2013 τ 
Head of Department of the National Security Committee in 
Nur-Sultan. January 2010 - November 2011 τ Head of HR 
Department of the National Security Committee. October 2008 
- January 2010 τ Executive Secretary of the Ministry of Justice 
of Kazakhstan. 2006 - 2008 τ Deputy Chairman, Chairman of 

 
100 https://kompromat1.news/articles/84444-kenes_rakishev_kupil_kvartiru_v_parizhe_za_65_mln._evro  
101 http://prokurorska-pravda.today/stati/item/141362-masimov-i-kvartira-v-singapure-za-7-5-millionov-usd  
102 https://eurasianet.org/in-kazakhstan-what-did-embattled-teliasonera-learn-from-uzbekistan  
103 http://www.respublika-kaz.info/news/politics/41065  
104 https://kompromat1.news/articles/95215-karim_masimov_zatravil_nezavisimye_smi_kazahstana  
105 https:// on.ft .com/3l2siIe  
106 http://ets.kz/a4474/?print=1  

https://kompromat1.news/articles/84444-kenes_rakishev_kupil_kvartiru_v_parizhe_za_65_mln._evro
http://prokurorska-pravda.today/stati/item/141362-masimov-i-kvartira-v-singapure-za-7-5-millionov-usd
https://eurasianet.org/in-kazakhstan-what-did-embattled-teliasonera-learn-from-uzbekistan
http://www.respublika-kaz.info/news/politics/41065
https://kompromat1.news/articles/95215-karim_masimov_zatravil_nezavisimye_smi_kazahstana
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
https://on.ft.com/3l2siIe
http://ets.kz/a4474/?print=1


24 

 

the Registration Service Committee of the Ministry of Justice. 2000 - 2006 τ Service in officers positions in 
the bodies of the National Security Committee. 

Date of birth: 20 August 1978 

Other data: the legal address of the National Security Committee: 010000, Republic of Kazakhstan, Nur-
Sultan, 20 Siganak Street, 20. On 6 May 2017, he was awarded by the President of Kazakhstan a special title 
of Lieutenant General of the National Security Committee. 

 

Samat AbishΩǎ ǊƻƭŜ in the organisational structure of the institution, as well as his authority over the final 
perpetrators of gross human rights violations 

¶ According to legislation, the First Deputy Chairman of the NSC is appointed by the President of 
Kazakhstan and reports directly to the NSC Chairman. The First Deputy is the second most important 
person in the institution and performs all functions assigned to the Chairman of the NSC during his 
absence. According to our information, as of September 2020, due to Karim Massimov's illness, the 
NSC is actually under the control of Samat Abish. 

¶ In addition to the official position of First Deputy Chairman of the NSC, Samat Abish is a nephew of 
Nursultan Nazarbayev (son of Nazarbayev's younger brother) and one of the most influential people 
in Kazakhstan. According to our information, since February 2020, it is Abish who has been in charge 
of the political persecution of civil society activists and has given orders regarding arbitrary detention 
of activists by force, exertion of torture and ill-treatment against them107.    

 

Full Legal Name of the Perpetrator: Turgumbayev Yerlan 
Zamanbekovich 

Country: Kazakhstan 

Position: Minister of Internal Affairs of Kazakhstan since 12 
February 2019 to the present time. December 2012 - February 2019 
τ Deputy Minister of Internal Affairs. 31 July 2006 - December 2012 
τ Head of the Department of Internal Affairs of Almaty. May 2006 
- 31 July 2006 τ Chairman of the Investigation Committee of the 
Ministry of Internal Affairs. April 2003 - May 2006 τ Head of 
Internal Affairs Department of North-Kazakhstan region. September 
2002 - April 2003 τ Head of Criminal Police Department of the 
Ministry of Internal Affairs. January 2001 - February 2002 τ 

Managing director of NAC Kazatomprom JSC. 1984 - 2002 τ work in bodies of the Ministry of Internal Affairs 
of the RK. 

Date of birth: 14 August 1962 

Other data: Legal address of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan 010000, Nur-
Sultan, Tauelsizdik Avenue, 1. Has been awarded several state awards. On 6 May 2019 was awarded the 
special title of Police Lieutenant General by the President of Kazakhstan. 

 

 
107 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2766213323697933  
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Yerlan TurgumbayevΩǎ ǊƻƭŜ in the organisational structure of the institution and his authority over the final 
perpetrators of gross human rights violations 

¶ In Kazakhstan, pre-trial detention facilities and prisons are under the control of the Committee of 
criminal-executive system (CCES). The police and the CCES are part of a unified system of internal 
affairs bodies. In 2011, by his decree, the President of Kazakhstan transferred the detention facilities 
and prisons from the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Justice to the Ministry of Internal Affairs. Human 
rights defenders sharply criticised the decision which made the penitentiary system even more closed 
to observers and vulnerable to violations108.The UN Committee against Torture and the UN Human 
Rights Committee have for several years emphasised their recommendation that pre-trial detention 
facilities and prisons be transferred back to the Ministry of Justice, but the authorities have ignored 
this recommendation. 

¶ In response to comments from the UN Human Rights Committee, Kazakhstan indicated that the 
Ministry of Internal Affairs is responsible for implementing the UN Convention against Torture. The 
Ministry of Internal Affairs conducts a preliminary investigation into allegations of torture, and "in 
case of partiality and red tape" further investigation is entrusted to special prosecutors, the 
authorities say109. 

¶ In its reports, the U.S. Department of State referred to reports of torture and abuse in police stations, 
pre-trial detention facilities and prisons, which is the Ministry of Internal Affairs' area of 
responsibility110. 

¶ The Law "On Bodies of Internal Affairs"111 of Kazakhstan establishes a strong hierarchy in decision-
making in this system. The minister manages the system of internal affairs bodies, appoints 
employees to positions, imposes disciplinary sanctions on them, controls their work, including the 
ǿƻǊƪ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƘŜŀŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ //9{ ŀƴŘ Ƙƛǎ ŘŜǇǳǘƛŜǎ ό!ǊǘƛŎƭŜ ф ƻŦ ǘƘŜ [ŀǿ Ψhƴ LƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ !ŦŦŀƛǊǎ .ƻŘƛŜǎΩύΦ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ 
му ƻŦ ǘƘŜ wŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ άhƴ ǘƘŜ aƛƴƛǎǘǊȅ ƻŦ LƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ !ŦŦŀƛǊǎ ƻŦ YŀȊŀƪƘǎǘŀƴέ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ Minister of 
LƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ !ŦŦŀƛǊǎ άǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜŀǊ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘŀǎƪǎ ŀƴŘ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ 
ǘƘŜ aƛƴƛǎǘǊȅέΦ 

¶ All key decisions in internal affairs bodies are made under the direction of the Minister. Therefore, 
the Minister of the Interior, as a senior offending official, is aware of cases of systematic gross 
violations by representatives of the Ministry of the Interior and, moreover, leads these processes. 
Therefore, the Minister of the Interior is responsible for the fabrication of politically motivated cases, 
mass arbitrary detentions and arrests, political killings as well as torture, ill-treatment in pre-trial 
detention facilities and prisons. 

 
108 https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/EUR5733452016ENGLISH.PDF  
109 https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CCPR%2FC%2FKAZ%2FCO%2F2%2FAdd.2&Lang=ru  
110 https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/277527.pdf  
111 https://online.zakon.kz/document/?doc_id=31538985#pos=3;-245  
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Full Legal Name of the Perpetrator: Nurdauletov Gizat 
Daurenbekovich 

Country: Kazakhstan 

Position: General Prosecutor of Kazakhstan since 18 March 
2019 to the present time. July 2017 - March 2019 τ First 
Deputy of the General Prosecutor. 2007 - July 2017 τ Head 
of Department of the National Security Committee of the 
Almaty Region. 1997 - 2007 τ work in the bodies of the 
National Security Committee of Kazakhstan. 1996 - 1997 τ 
work in the bodies of the State Investigative Committee of 
Kazakhstan. 1990 - 1996 τ work in the bodies of the 

Prosecutor's Office. 

Date of birth: 11 June 1964 

Passport number: N09923709 

ID card: 026975607 

Address: Nur-Sultan, Kerey Zhanibek Khandar St., 14/2, apt. 264 

Other data: the legal address of the General Prosecutor's Office: 010000, Republic of Kazakhstan, Nur-Sultan 
city, Mangilik, 14. On 6 May 2019 was awarded the title of State Counsellor of Justice of the 2nd class.  

 

Gizat Nurdauletov's role in the organisation of the institution and his authority over the final perpetrators 
of gross human rights violations 

¶ According to the law on the Prosecutor's Office112, the department supervises the observance of 
legality in Kazakhstan, is responsible for criminal prosecution and represents the interests of the state 
in court. Also, in accordance with Article 4 of the above-mentioned law, the Prosecutor's Office 
coordinates the activities of law enforcement and other state bodies in ensuring legality, law and 
order and combating crime.  

¶ The Public Prosecutor's Office is a centralised body, which reports to the General Prosecutor. The 
Prosecutor's Office has a strict power hierarchy established by legislation. There is a strict 
subordination of subordinate prosecutors to their superiors in the Prosecutor's Office. The General 
Prosecutor's Office, Regional Prosecutor's Offices, District Prosecutor's Offices, City Prosecutor's 
Offices, Inter-Regional Prosecutor's Offices and Specialized Prosecutor's Offices form a unified system 
of the Prosecutor's Office of Kazakhstan. The heads of all prosecution bodies are subordinate to the 
General Prosecutor's Office. 

¶ The General Prosecutor is responsible for the entire prosecution system in the state and makes all 
key decisions within the agency, managing the activities of subordinate prosecution offices. The 
General Prosecutor issues orders and instructions that are mandatory for all employees of the 
prosecution service; he appoints and dismisses prosecutors of regions, districts and heads of 
institutions. 

 
112 Hereinafter we refer to the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 81-VI dated 30 June 2017 "On the Prosecutor's Office":  
https://online.zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=31690116#pos=5;-106  

https://online.zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=31690116#pos=5;-106


27 

 

¶ The General Prosecutor is appointed and dismissed by the President and reports to the President. In 
accordance with Article 37 of the Law on the Procurator General's Office, the General Prosecutor 
exercises supreme supervision over the observance of legality in Kazakhstan. Thus, the General 
Prosecutor bears personal responsibility for gross violations of human rights in the country: arbitrary 
detention, persecution of participants in peaceful actions, restrictions on freedom of speech and 
torture. 

According to Article 11 of the Act, the Prosecutor's Office supervises the observance of legality during 
pre-trial investigation. Therefore, the General Prosecutor bears personal responsibility for fabricating 
politically motivated cases against participants in peaceful protests, opposition politicians, and activists. 
Samat Abish, Yerlan Turgumbayev and Gizat Nurdauletov are non-public personalities. There is no 
information about their assets in public sources. The information that is publicly available is limited to a 
meagre biographical summary of what state position they occupied and when. However, these 
individuals are extremely influential and close to President Tokayev and Yelbasy Nazarbayev (moreover, 
Samat Abish is a member of Nazarbayev's family, the wealthiest in the country). With this in mind, there 
is every reason to believe that Abish, Turgumbayev and Nurdauletov have high financial security. This 
means that they or their families may have assets or connections (including travel) in the EU and the USA. 
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4. THE POLITICAL KILLING OF DULAT AGADIL 

 

 Dulat Agadil was a well-known opposition activist and blogger 
who lived in Talapker village near Nur-Sultan (Astana). Agadil was 
one of the most famous protest leaders in Kazakhstan (especially 
in the Kazakh-speaking environment).  He took part in rallies and 
ǇǊƻǘŜǎǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƻǇǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘǎΣ 5/Y ŀƴŘ άYƻǎƘŜ 
tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέΣ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴƛǘƛŀǘƻǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƻǇǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ 
movemenǘ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ по ȅŜŀǊǎ ƻƭŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦŀǘƘŜǊ 
of six children.  

On the evening of 24 February 2020, Dulat Agadil was detained 
and placed in a pre-trial detention facility, and on the morning of 
25 February 2020, the authorities announced that the activist 
ΨŘƛŜŘ ƻŦ ƘŜŀǊǘ ŦŀƛƭǳǊŜΩΦ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛǾŜǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ ŘƛŘ ƴƻǘ 
complain of heart problems and did not have bad habits. Rather, 
they emphasised that Dulat was killed, and that his death was the 
result of torture and ill-treatment by law enforcement bodies. 
Dulat Agadil's family members gave to the Open Dialogue 
Foundation a power of attorney to protect their interests in the case of the death of the activist. 

The authƻǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘΣ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŀǘƛǾŜǎ ƻŦ ŎƛǾƛƭ ǎƻŎƛŜǘȅ ƛƴ YŀȊŀƪƘǎǘŀƴΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ 
members consider his death a political killing: 

¶ his death in the pre-trial detention facility occurred suddenly following his detention the previous 
night; 

¶ family members and activists took a video-recording of multiple bruises and abrasions on the body 

of Dulat Agadil, which indicates the use of torture and ill-treatment against him; 

¶ the video footage showing the last hours of Dulat Agadil's life in the pre-trial detention facility proves 
that the employees of the detention facility deliberately failed to provide him with medical 
assistance; 

¶ in the last two years before his death, Dulat Agadil was systematically persecuted for political 

reasons. He was one of ǘƘŜ ƛƴƛǘƛŀǘƻǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǊŜŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘΦ 

By political killing, we mean the act of killing a civil society or political figure in order to intimidate members 
of a social group (for example, the political opposition) of which he is a part, as well as with the aim of taking 
revenge for his civil society or political activities.  

Political killing is the result of systematic political persecution and oppressive policies of the authoritarian 
state against representatives of civil society and the opposition. Moreover, while an authoritarian state can 
simulate an investigation into a political killing, due to the fact that law enforcement and judicial authorities 
are controlled, such an investigation cannot be independent and objective. 
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!ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ŘŜŦŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǾƛŎǘƛƳǎ ƻŦ ǊŜǇǊŜǎǎƛƻƴ ƛƴ ·ƛƴƧƛŀƴƎ tǊƻǾƛƴŎŜΣ /Ƙƛƴŀ 

From 2018, Agadil participated in anti-government rallies and criticised the authorities on social media. He 
also collected and transmitted information to human rights defenders about the arbitrarily detained 
participants of peaceful protests.  

Agadil publicly defended thousands of Kazakhs who have been victims of repression in China's Xinjiang 
province and also criticised China's economic expansion in Kazakhstan. In particular, Agadil actively defended 
Murager Alimuly and Kaster Musakhanuly - asylum seekers, ethnic Kazakhs who fled Xinjiang. In October 
2019, they illegally crossed the border into Kazakhstan and asked for political asylum. On 14 October 2019 
they held a press conference where Musakhanuly noted that he had been held for over 4 years in a political 
reformation camp where he was tortured. Earlier the Kazakhstani Minister of Foreign Affairs stated that 
there were "no ethnic Kazakhs" in these camps. Immediately after the press conference Alimuly and 
Musakhanuly were detained by the special services and sent to the pre-trial detention facility. 

Dulat Agadil, together with his lawyer, participated in the investigation to prevent the secret illegal transfer 
of Alimuly and Musakhanuly to China. On 21 January 2020, the court sentenced asylum seekers to one year 
in prison without deportation to China. On 17 October 2020 an unprecedented event was announced: they 
received refugee status. This was made possible by publicity and public pressure. 

In October 2019, Agadil stated: I warn you once again, if you don't give these guys (Kaster Musakhanuly and 
Murager Alimuly) citizenship, then blame yourself. I will personally call on people to the Akorda building, even 
if I am arrested! Thank you!"113. In his video message dated 17 October 2019, Agadil noted: «What is 
happening now in Chinese concentration camps will also come to us within 7-8 years. I declare this with full 
responsibility. If I get arrested for saying these words, then let me say it. I am not the only one who is talking 
about this. The Kazakh ǇŜƻǇƭŜΣ !ƳŜǊƛŎŀΣ 9ǳǊƻǇŜΣ ǘƘŜ ǿƘƻƭŜ ǿƻǊƭŘ ƛǎ ǘŀƭƪƛƴƎ ŀōƻǳǘ ƛǘΦ ΧL ŀƳ ŀ ǇŜǊǎƻƴ ǿƘƻ ƎƻŜǎ 
out [to protest] and is 100% aware of all this. They can also kill me. They can beat me up. They can also stab 
me. If all this happens, only our security services will do it. bƻōƻŘȅ ŜƭǎŜ ǿƛƭƭ Řƻ ƛǘέ114.  

 

Dulat Agadil's persecution history 

In response to his human rights and social activities, Agadil was systematically subjected to detention and 
administrative arrests. In June 2019, Agadil was beaten in the police department τ his arm was dislocated 
and had to be put in a plaster cast. There is reason to believe that due to his opposition activities, Agadil, like 
hundreds of other activists in Kazakhstan, was constantly under the surveillance of the special services. 

In the period between August and December 2019, Agadil spent more than 80 days in detention, having 
ōŜŜƴ ŎƻƴǾƛŎǘŜŘ ƻŦ άǇŀǊǘƛŎƛǇŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǳƴŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǎŜŘ ǊŀƭƭƛŜǎέ ό!ǊǘƛŎƭŜ пуу ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻŘŜ ƻŦ !ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƛǾŜ tǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜ 
ό/!tύύΣ άŘƛǎƻōŜŘƛŜƴŎŜ ǘƻ ŀ ǇƻƭƛŎŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊέ ό!ǊǘƛŎƭŜ сст ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /!tύ ŀƴŘ άŎƻƴǘŜƳǇǘ ƻŦ ŎƻǳǊǘέ ό!Ǌǘicle 653 of the 
CAP). In particular, Agadil was accused of comparing the court and the judicial system to clowns in a circus 
on 4 November 2019 when leaving the courtroom. Subsequently, after the death of Dulat Agadil, files of the 
administrative cases in which he was involved, disappeared from the public domain. 

Agadil has previously expressed fears that his life would be in danger due to political prosecution. On 23 
October 2019, Dulat Agadil filed a statement to the prosecutor's office of the Tselinograd district, in which 
he said that he was going on an indefinite hunger strike due to the fact that he was being tried for falsified 
articles and prosecuted for his views. Agadil noted in his statement that if something happens to him, the 

 
113 https:// www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2815642572088341/  
114 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2819813925004539/  
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prosecutor of the Tselinograd district, Askar Zharylgapuly, the head of the District Department of Internal 
Affairs, Yerlan Akbarov, prosecutor Ashirbekov B.S., judge Dinara Merzadinova, district akim Malgadzar 
Tatkeyev, police inspector Medet Zhuparbayev and operative investigator Zharas Kaparov should be blamed 
for this. 

In January 2020, Agadil faced crimiƴŀƭ ŎƘŀǊƎŜǎ ƻŦ άƛƴǎǳƭǘƛƴƎ ŀ ƧǳŘƎŜέ ό!ǊǘƛŎƭŜ пмл ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ /ƻŘŜ ό//ύύ 
ŀƴŘ άƭƛōŜƭ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ŀ ǇǊƻǎŜŎǳǘƻǊέ ό!ǊǘƛŎƭŜ пмм ƻŦ ǘƘŜ //ύΦ ¢ƘŜ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ ŎŀǎŜ ǿŀǎ ƛƴƛǘƛŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǇƻƭƛŎŜ 
department of the Tselinograd District in connection with an incident that occurred on 17 October 2019. 
During the announcement of the verdict in one of the administrative cases against Agadil, the activist 
shouted to Judge Dinara Merzadinova: ά¸ƻǳ ōŜǘǘŜǊ ǘŀƪŜ ƻŦŦ ȅƻǳǊ ǊƻōŜ ŀƴŘ Ǝƻ Ƴƛƭƪ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǿΩΦ Agadil's words 
were associated with the statement of Nursultan Nazarbayev, who advised Kazakhstanis seeking social 
ŀǎǎƛǎǘŀƴŎŜ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘŜ ǘƻ άǊŜƭȅ ƻƴ ǘƘŜƳǎŜƭǾŜǎέ ŀƴŘΣ ŦƻǊ ŜȄŀƳǇƭŜΣ άƎŜǘ ǘǿƻ Ŏƻǿǎέ115. Agadil also allegedly 
shouted insulting words at Prosecutor B. Ashirbekov. Alimkhan Sagadiyev, an investigator of the Tselinograd 
District Police Department, conducted the pre-trial investigation of the criminal case. 

/ƻǳƴǎŜƭ DŀƭȅƳ bǳǊǇŜƛǎƻǾΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ŀƴŘ ǿƛŦŜ ƻŦ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΣ ǎǘŀǘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǎŜ ƻŦ άƛƴǎǳlting a 
ƧǳŘƎŜ ŀƴŘ ŘŜŦŀƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ŀ ǇǊƻǎŜŎǳǘƻǊέΣ ƛƴƛǘƛŀǘŜŘ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭ ǿŀǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ Ǿƛƻƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 
the norms of the Code of Criminal Procedure. In particular, it was through violations of the law that evidence 
in a criminal case was obtained and a linguistic examination of Dulat Agadil's statements in court were carried 
ƻǳǘΦ IŜǊŜΣ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ŀƴ ƻǇǇƻǊǘǳƴƛǘȅ ǘƻ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ŦŀƳƛƭƛŀǊƛǎŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 
appointment of an expert witness, to challenge the expert and apply for the appointment of the persons 
indicated by him as experts, or to address the expert with additional questions. 

On 26 January 2020, a preventive measure was applied against Agadil in the form of a ban on leaving the 
city. However, due to the absence of Dulat Agadil, he had no knowledge about the decision. On 29 January 
2020, Agadil was put on the wanted list. On 30 January 2020, the activist was detained in the city of Aktobe 
and informed about the ban on leaving the city. According to the criminal case file, Agadil refused to 
familiarise himself with the decision. However, his relatives doubt that the police informed him of the 
decision in the first place. 

hƴ мм CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ нлнлΣ ƛƴ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŀƭƭŜƎŜŘ άŜǾŀǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛǾŜ ŀŎǘƛƻƴǎέΣ WǳŘƎŜ ƻf the 
Tselinograd District Court Zhanat Kulataevich Temirov sanctioned the change in the preventive measure 
from a ban on leaving the city to a detention. At the same time, the judge's decision did not specify the 
period of detention. According to KazakhstŀƴΩǎ ƭŜƎƛǎƭŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŀ ǇǊŜǾŜƴǘƛǾŜ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊƳ ƻŦ ŘŜǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ 
applied to a person suspected of committing a crime which is punishable with imprisonment for a term of at 
least five years. Moreover, only in exceptional cases can a suspect be taken into custody if the law provides 
for a punishment in the form of imprisonment for less than five years. Based on the criminal charges brought 
ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΣ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ŦŀŎƛƴƎ ŀǘ Ƴƻǎǘ ǘǿƻ ȅŜŀǊǎΩ ƛƳǇǊƛǎƻƴƳŜƴǘΦ 

According to Kazakhstani activists and human rights defenders, Dulat Agadil was supposed to take part in an 
informal meeting with members of the European Parliament, who were on a visit to Nur-Sultan on 25-27 
February, 2020. 

  

Detention at night and death in the detention facility 

On 24 February 2020, at about 8:30 p.m., policemen in civilian clothes detained Agadil at his home. The 
detention was carried out by officers of the Tselinograd District Police Department Darkhan Baukayev, 

 
115 https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=636871030205779  

https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=636871030205779


31 

 

Kuandyk Apasov, Khangeldy Seidaly, Zharas Kapparov and investigator Alimkhan Sagadiyev. They arrived 
at Dulat Agadil's house in an ambulance and fraudulently entered the house. Dulat Agadil's son Zhanbolat 
recorded the developments on his phone. Police officer Kapparov Zharas hit Zhanbolat on the arm, after 
which the phone fell out of his hands. 

Notably, during the arrest, one of the policemen told Agadil that it makes no sense for him to take his 
personal belongings to the pre-trial detention facilityΣ ŀǎ ǘƘŜȅ άǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ƻŦ ƴƻ ǳǎŜ ǘƻ ƘƛƳέ116. Agadil was 
handcuffed and taken away in a car with civilian plate numbers117. 

!ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ ŎŀǎŜ ŦƛƭŜ ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŀǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ hŦŦƛŎŜ ƻŦ {ǇŜŎƛŀƭ 
Prosecutors, at the time of the arrest, the activist was allegedly in a state of alcoholic intoxication. Therefore, 
ŀŦǘŜǊ Ƙƛǎ ŀǊǊŜǎǘΣ ŀǘ ŀōƻǳǘ фΥол ǇΦƳΦΣ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ǘŀƪŜƴ ŦƻǊ ŜȄŀƳƛƴŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ¢ǎŜƭƛƴƻƎǊŀŘ 5ƛǎǘǊƛŎǘ hǳǘǇŀǘƛŜƴǘǎΩ 
Clinic (Tselinograd District, Akmol village, Microdistrict 3, Building 1A), where the narcologist K. Usenov 
determinŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭ ǿŀǎ άƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŘƛǳƳ ŘŜƎǊŜŜ ƻŦ ŀƭŎƻƘƻƭƛŎ ƛƴǘƻȄƛŎŀǘƛƻƴέΦ !ŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŀǘΣ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ǘŀƪŜƴ 
to the police department of the Tselinograd District (Tselinograd District, Akmol village, 1A Lineinaya Street) 
to draw up procedural documents on the detention. 

5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ DǳƭōŀǊŀǎƘ ½ƘƻƭƳǳƪƘŀƳōŜǘƻǾŀΣ Ƙƛǎ ǿƛŦŜ DǳƭƴŀǊ YŀǎȅƳƪƘŀƴƻǾŀ ŀƴŘ ǎƻƴ bǳǊōƻƭŀǘ 
Agadilov insist that the accusations of alcohol intoxication are false, as Dulat did not drink alcohol and did 
not smoke118. 

According to the criminal case file, at approx. 10:00 p.m., Dulat Agadil was taken out of the police department 
and at approx. 11:00 p.m. he was brought to the Institute of Forensic Examination in Nur-Sultan (Nur-Sultan, 
7 Gabiden Mustafin Street). In the Institute, it was determined that Dulat Agadil had two abrasions around 
the left forearm and right lower leg, which were allegedly formed three to five days before the examination. 
It is noteworthy that at the time of the examination, the escort Mukhtar Kashkepov was with Dulat Agadil, 
ŀƴŘ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ǘŜǎǘƛƳƻƴȅΣ ƘŜ ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ ƘŀŘ ƴƻǘ ƴƻǘƛŎŜŘ ŀƴȅ άǾƛǎƛōƭŜ ƛƴƧǳǊƛŜǎέ ƻƴ !ƎŀŘƛƭϥǎ ōƻŘȅΦ 

In the testimony of the escort, it is reported that at about 11:50 p.m. he transferred Dulat Agadil back to the 
detention facility in Nur-Sultan (Institution EC-166/1 of the Department of the Penitentiary System of Nur-
Sultan at Nur-Sultan, Baikonyr District , 30/1 Alash Shosse). 

According to the criminal case file, at 00:25 a.m. on 25 February 2020, the detainee was placed in a cell of 
ǘƘŜ ǉǳŀǊŀƴǘƛƴŜ ŘŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘΣ ŀǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳƻǊƴƛƴƎ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ǎǳǇǇƻǎŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ǘŀƪŜƴ ǘƻ ŎƻǳǊǘ ŦƻǊ άŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 
ǘƘŜ ƧǳǎǘƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ŀǇǇƭȅƛƴƎ ŀ ǇǊŜǾŜƴǘƛǾŜ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ƘƛƳέΦ Lƴ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ !ƎŀŘƛƭΣ ŦƻǳǊ ƳƻǊŜ ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ǿŜǊŜ 
kept in the cell.  

Counsel Galym NurpeƛǎƻǾ ŀƴŘ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛǾŜǎ ƛƴǎƛǎǘ ǘƘŀǘ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŀǊǊŜǎǘΣ !ƎŀŘƛƭ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ 
placed in the temporary detention facility in the Talapker settlement, rather than in the detention facility in 
Nur-Sultan. According to Art. 148, section 4 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, in cases of detention, the 
suspect must be brought to the investigating judge for consideration of the validity of the application of the 
previously chosen preventive measure. However, Agadil was not taken to the judge, but immediately placed 
in a pre-trial detention facility. Whereas, according to the legislation of Kazakhstan, a suspect can only be 
held in a temporary detention facility in the event that the case must be considered by the court. 

 
116 https://www.facebook.com/100046530890920/videos/pcb.172727700954925/172727604288268/  
117 https://www.facebook.com/100006655892207/videos/pcb.2633098956921942/2633098846921953/?type=3&theater  
118 https://kaztag.kz/ru/news/dulat-agadil-ne-upotreblyal-alkogol-soratniki-umershego-v-sizo-

politaktivista?utm_source=facebook&utm_medium=cpc&fbclid=IwAR1aTdiG8mCghYnp0oSeyDrPvLHLLBZDem19KB39jawOD8tYUX9UWlAN
PPA  
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According to the official version, at 7:48 a.m. Dulat Agadil's health deteriorated and an ambulance was called 
for him. The ambulance arrived at 08:16 a.m. and pronounced Dulat Agadil dead. 

It is noteworthy that Head of the Internal Security Department of the Ministry of Internal Affairs, Arman 
Sadanov and Deputy Minister of Internal Affairs Arystangani Zapparov officially presented different 
versions, from which it is not clear whether Agadil died before or after the arrival of the ambulance. 
According to Sadanov, at approx. 7:15 a.m. Agadil felt unwell, and an ambulance was called for him which 
tried to provide him with first aid. An ambulance arrived at 8:15 a.m., and after 5-10 minutes, death was 
pronounced119. Zapparov stated, in turn, that after 7:00 a.m. Agadil felt unwell and fainted. They tried to give 
ƘƛƳ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŀƛŘΣ άōǳǘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŀǊǊƛǾŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀƳōǳƭŀƴŎŜΣ !ƎŀŘƛƭ ǿŀǎ ŀƭǊŜŀŘȅ ŘŜŀŘέ120. 

On 24 February 2020, the police of the Baikonyr District of Nur-Sultan initiated a pre-trial investigation into 
the death of Dulat Agadil. On the same day, the case was transferred for investigation to the Investigative 
Operations Group under the leadership of the special prosecutor of the Prosecutor's Office of Nur-Sultan 
Nuralan Nakishev. 

 

Recordings from CCTV cameras in the detention facility 

It was only on 29 May 2020, three months after Agadil's death, that his mother, widow and counsel Galym 
Nurpeisov managed to become familiarised with the criminal case file and the recordings from CCTV 
cameras in the pre-trial detention facility. 

The footage shows the developments from 6:30 a.m. to 8:00 a.m. on 25 February 2020. At the same time, 
άŦƻǊ ǊŜŀǎƻƴǎ ǳƴƪƴƻǿƴ ǘƻ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƻǊǎέΣ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ŎƻǾŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ƳƛŘƴƛƎƘǘ ŀƴŘ сΥол ŀΦƳΦ 
ƻƴ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ нрΣ нлнл άǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ŦƻǳƴŘέΦ 

As stated by Counsel Nurpeisov, the video recordings confirmed that in the morning Agadil had visible signs 
of a serious deterioration in his health: it was difficult for him to get out of bed, he could hardly move, he 
staggered. The detention facility officers entered the cell at least three times. They forced Dulat out of bed 
and deliberately ignored his poor health condition. No medical doctors were called. Moreover, the 
detention facility officers further worsened Agadil's situation by not allowing him to lie on the bed. They also 
pulled his hands off the support when he was trying to hold onto the door near the toilet. As a result, Dulat 
Agadil fell to the floor and was lying motionless in the middle of the cell for 20 minutes. All this time, the 
employees of the pre-trial detention facility did nothing, stepping over Agadil who was lying on the cell 
floor, unable to move.  

Only after 20 minutes did the prison officer order Agadil's fellow inmates to pick him up, and then called the 
administration. After that, the administration of the pre-trial detention facility called an ambulance, but, 
ŀǇǇŀǊŜƴǘƭȅΣ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ŀƭǊŜŀŘȅ ǘƻƻ ƭŀǘŜΦ hƴ ом aŀȅΣ нлнлΣ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŎƻǳƴǎŜƭ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƭŀǘƛǾŜǎ ŦƛƭŜd a complaint 
about the negligence of the prison staff, which led to the death of the activist121. 

According to the testimony of the prison guard M. Sattayev, at approx. 8:00 a.m., the controller D. 
Anarbayev reported that Dulat Agadil felt unwell and an ambulance should be called. Sattayev called an 
ŀƳōǳƭŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ǿŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŎŜƭƭ ǿƘŜǊŜ !ƎŀŘƛƭ ǿŀǎ άǳƴŎƻƴǎŎƛƻǳǎέΦ ¢ƘŜ ŘŜǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ facility staff performed 
resuscitation actions (heart massage), which did not bring any results. 

 
119 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/well-known-kazakh-activist-aghadil-dies-after-day-in-detention/30453107.html  
120 https://tengrinews.kz/kazakhstan_news/ozvuchena-hronologiya-prebyivaniya-agadila-v-sizo-392747/  
121 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2689430011376265/  
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https://tengrinews.kz/kazakhstan_news/ozvuchena-hronologiya-prebyivaniya-agadila-v-sizo-392747/
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33 

 

On 1 June, 2020, special prosecutor N.S. Nakishev issued a ruling by which he granted the request for the 
provision of copies of the footage from the surveillance cameras in the pre-trial detention facility to Dulat 
!ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŎƻǳƴǎŜƭ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƭŀǘƛǾŜǎΦ bŀƪƛǎƘŜǾ also recommended purchasing a hard disk due to the huge amount 
of information. However, on 3 June 2020, when Agadil's counsel and relatives came to the prosecutor's 
office to receive the copies, they were handed a decision to revoke the order to provide the copies. The 
refusal decision was signed by First Deputy Prosecutor of Nur-Sultan Berik Abilov. The refusal to provide 
copies of the footage was justified by the fact that they could be published in the media, which would violate 
the privacy of other arrested persons who are captured in the footage. 

However, it is obvious that this is only a pretext for refusal, and the prosecutor's office is doing everything in 
its power to prevent the distribution of the footage from the pre-trial detention facility, which indicates that 
Dulat Agadil was not provided with medical assistance when he was dying. At the same time, the counsel 
and relatives have not yet been shown the video footage from the police department, where Agadil was 
taken before being placed in the pre-trial detention facility. 

 

Requirements to ensure independence during autopsy and pressure on the counsels of Dulat Agadil's 
family 

Four counsels were involved in the case regarding Dulat Agadil. Counsel Daniyar Aktanov defended the 
interests of the acǘƛǾƛǎǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǎŜ ƻŦ άƛƴǎǳƭǘƛƴƎ ŀ ƧǳŘƎŜ ŀƴŘ ŘŜŦŀƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ŀ ǇǊƻǎŜŎǳǘƻǊΦϦ IƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ŀǘ 
ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŘŜǘŜƴǘƛƻƴΣ !ƪǘŀƴƻǾ ŘƛŘ ƴƻǘ ŎƻƳŜ ǘƻ ŀǎǎƛǎǘ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘ ŀƴŘ ŘƛŘ ƴƻǘ ŀƴǎǿŜǊ ǇƘƻƴŜ ŎŀƭƭǎΦ 
Because of this, the activist's relatives urgently hired another counsel for him τ Bauyrzhan Azanov. In fact, 
Azanov began his actions to defend Dulat Agadil when it became known that the activist had died in the pre-
trial detention facility. The authorities began to make attempts to remove Azanov from the case regarding 
5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ 

On 25 February 2020, forensic experts began to perform an autopsy on Agadil's body. For a long time, 
counsel Bauyrzhan Azanov was prevented from entering the morgue. There was a special police bus near 
the morgue building. They let him in at the final stage of the autopsy τ Counsel Azanov saw only the internal 
organs of the deceased, but not the body itself. The counsel demanded that the autopsy be suspended and 
insisted that independent expert pathologists carry out the autopsy on the body. 

hƴ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ŘŀȅΣ ǘƘŜ ƘǳƳŀƴ ǊƛƎƘǘǎ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴ άYŀȊŀƪƘǎǘŀƴƛ LƴǘŜǊƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ .ǳǊŜŀǳ ŦƻǊ IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎέ 
(KIBHR), at the request of Counsel Azanov, helped to find two expert pathologists, Arman Akhanbekov and 
Ruslan Satyvaldiyev, who are not employees of the state expert service. On 26 February 2020, they began 
to examine the body of Agadil which was already opened. As stated by human rights activist Yevgeny Zhovtis, 
in Kazakhstan, άƛǘ ƛǎ ǾŜǊȅ ŘƛŦŦƛŎǳƭǘ ǘƻ ŦƛƴŘ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŜȄǇŜǊǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƎǳŀǊŀƴǘŜŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜȅ ŘƻƴΩǘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ ǎŎŀǊŜŘ 
ƻǊ ŎŀǊŜŦǳƭ ǎƻ ŀǎ ǘƻ ǇǊŜǾŜƴǘ ŀƴȅ ŎƻƴŦƭƛŎǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘƛŜǎέ 122. This is especially true of politically motivated 
cases. 

Two days later, the fears of human rights activists were confirmed. On 28 February 2020, the expert 
pathologists Arman Akhanbekov and Ruslan Satyvaldiyev took part in a briefing by the Deputy Prosecutor of 
Nur-Sultan, Yeldos Kilimzhanov. Medical specialists, who were supposed to be independent, began to repeat 
the version of the authorities even before the end of the examination. In particular, Arman Akhanbekov 
stated that the hematomas and bruises on the body of Dulat Agadil are post mortem stains and no injuries 
were found on the body of Dulat Agadil. 

 
122 https://www.facebook.com/eugene.zhovtis/posts/1859714834158928  
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Relatives were advised to use the services of Counsel Aiman Umarova, who is a member of the National 
Council of Public Trust with the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan, and also spoke approvingly of the 
President on social networks123. Umarova demanded that she be the only counsel for Dulat Agadil's family. 
Thus, Counsel Azanov was, in fact, removed from the case. Counsel Aiman Umarova refused to cooperate 
with human rights organisations in the case regarding Agadil and sabotaged a public investigation into the 
death of the activist. 

In connection with such actions of the counsel, Kazakhstani activists held a challenge on social networks with 
a call to strip Aiman Umarova of the US State Department's International Women of Courage Award, which 
she received in 2018124. 

Dulat Agadil's relatives were forced to hire Counsel Galym Nurpeisov, who currently represents the interests 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŎŜŀǎŜŘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎΦ 

 

President Tokayev named the cause of Agadil's death before the results of the examination became known 

On 29 February 2020, without waiting for the results of the forensic medical examination, President Kassym-
½ƘƻƳŀǊǘ ¢ƻƪŀȅŜǾ ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ŀǎ ŦƻƭƭƻǿǎΥ άI can state with full conviction that, unfortunately, the activist Agadil 
ŘƛŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ƘŜŀǊǘ ŦŀƛƭǳǊŜΦ {ŀȅƛƴƎ ƻǘƘŜǊǿƛǎŜ ƛǎ ŘŜƴȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǘǊǳǘƘέΦ 

IƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜǎ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ōŜƭƛŜǾŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƻŦŦƛŎƛŀƭ ǾŜǊǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ 
Agadil's mother Gulbarash Zholmukhambetova believes that in his statement, President Tokayev exerted 
pressure on the investigators and pushed the investigation in a specific direction. She labels the death of her 
ǎƻƴ άŀ ǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ ƪƛƭƭƛƴƎέΦ άIŜϥǎ ƴƻǘ ŀ ŎǊƛƳinal. His fault was that he spoke the truth. I believe that [Nursultan] 
Nazarbayev, [Kassym-Zhomart] Tokayev, [Karim] Massimov, Yerlan Turgumbayev are to blame for his 
death"125, 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ǎǘŀǘŜŘΦ  

 

The authorities obstruct public investigation into the activist's death 

There are a number of inconsistencies between the data collected by the Open Dialogue Foundation, activists 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άQaharmanέ IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎ Foundation ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ άплрέ ƘǳƳŀƴ ǊƛƎƘǘǎ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻƴǘǊŀǎǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ 
the authorities' version. The actions of law enforcement bodies seem to cover for their employees and justify 
the statement of President Tokayev about the cause of Dulat Agadil's death as a result of heart failure, while 
there were no official results of the examination.  

hƴ нт CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ нлнлΣ !ƎŀŘƛƭϥǎ ŦǳƴŜǊŀƭ ǘƻƻƪ ǇƭŀŎŜΦ .ŜŦƻǊŜ ǘƘŀǘΣ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǎŜƴǘ ƻŦ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ōǊƻǘƘŜǊΣ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘǎ 
recorded video footage of his body. On the evening of 27 February 2020, this footage began to spread on 
social networks. The footage shows abrasions and bruises on the back, thighs, palm and heels of the 
deceased Agadil. The activists passed this information to the members of the European Parliament 

 
123 http://www.akorda.kz/ru/events/glava-gosudarstva-provel-vstrechi-s-chlenami-nacionalnogo-soveta-obshchestvennogo-doveriya  
124 https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php?story_fbid=570464617191135&id=100026828062397  
125 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/30642850.html  
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delegation, one of whom, at wƽȍŀ ¢ƘǳƴΣ ŘǊŜǿ ŀǘǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 
injuries on the body and published screenshots depicting 
them126.  

On 28 February 2020, Deputy Prosecutor of the city of Nur-
Sultan, Yeldos Kilymzhanov held a briefing, where he stated that 
these were not bodily injurieǎΣ ōǳǘ άǇƻǎǘ ƳƻǊǘŜƳ ǎǘŀƛƴǎέ127.   

 Instead of properly verifying the footage with alleged signs of 
torture, the authorities brought criminal charges against the 
ŀǳǘƘƻǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƻǘŀƎŜ ŦƻǊ άŘƛǎǎŜƳƛƴŀǘƛƴƎ ƪƴƻǿƛƴƎƭȅ ŦŀƭǎŜ 
ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴέ ό!ǊǘƛŎƭŜ нтп ƻŦ ǘƘŜ //). In the criminal case, the 
activist Medet Arystanov was granted the status of a "witness 
entitled to protection", which in Kazakhstani reality actually 
means the status of a suspect. Activists Kairat Seitkaliyev, 
Saltanat Barykbayev, Darkhan Umirbayev and Dinara Abisheva, 
Askar Kairbek, Asel Onlanbekkyzy, Nagyskhan Tulebayev, Auzhan 
Ayazbekova and human rights activist Anna Shukeyeva were also 
regularly called for questioning as witnesses, thus the authorities 
were putting systematic pressure on them128. The persecution of 
individuals who testified to the torture of Dulat Agadil received 
widespread coverage and outrage on social media. Against the 
backdrop of public pressure, on 19 June 2020, the criminal case 
ŦƻǊ άŘƛǎǎŜƳƛƴŀǘƛƴƎ ŘŜƭƛōŜǊŀǘŜƭȅ ŦŀƭǎŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴέ ǿŀǎ ŎƭƻǎŜŘ129. 

The events indicate that the authorities exerted pressure on 
Dulat Agadil's family members in order to prevent the case from 
being publicised. On 28 February 2020, Deputy Prosecutor of the city of Nur-Sultan Yeldos Kilymzhanov 
stated at a briefing that Agadil's mother had filed a statement against activists who posted the footage of 
Agadil's body130. However, on 10 March 2020, she spoke at a preǎǎ ŎƻƴŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ άQaharmanέ 
human rights initiative and Dulat Agadil's associates. Agadil's mother stated she withdrew her statement 
against the activists from the prosecutor's office131. She also stated that the activists made the footage with 
her consent and that she has no complaints against them. 

The wife of the deceased activist, Gulnara Kasymkhanova, stated that representatives of the Akimat 
approached her and asked that she and her children abstain from communicating with civil society activists. 
In return, the Akimat promised assistance in registering a land plot and building a house for Dulat Agadil's 
family132,133. 

 

 

 

 
126 https://www.facebook.com/rozathun/posts/2806990576059427  
127 https://www.youtube.com/watch?time_continue=621&v=v5JauhnPAPI&feature=emb_logo  
128 https:// rus.azattyq.org/a/30480940.html ;  
129 http://tirek.info/ugolovnoe-delo-v-otnoshenii-arystanova-sejtkalieva-umirbaeva-prekrashheno/  
130 https://www.youtube.com/watch?time_continue=621&v=v5JauhnPAPI&feature=emb_logo  
131 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/30479488.html  
132 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2706062426379690/  
133 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2706062426379690/  
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Closure of the investigation into the death of Dulat Agadil 

On 25 May 2020, the Head of the Investigative Operations Group, N.S. Nakishev, issued a decision to close 
the pre-ǘǊƛŀƭ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŎƭƻǎŜ ǘƘŜ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ ŎŀǎŜ ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŀǘƘ ƻŦ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ άǘƘŜ ŀōǎŜƴŎŜ 
ƻŦ ŀ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ ƻŦŦŜƴŎŜέΦ !ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘhe official results of the forensic medical examination, Dulat Agadil's 
death occurred as a result of an acute myocardial infarction. According to the conclusions of the expert of 
the National Scientific Cardiac Surgery Centre, Marat Aripov, myocardial infarction proceeded in Agadil 
άǾŜƛƭŜŘƭȅΣ ǎŜŎǊŜǘƭȅέΦ 

5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ŎƭŀƛƳ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ ƴŜǾŜǊ ƘŀŘ ƘŜŀǊǘ ǇǊƻōƭŜƳǎ ŀƴŘ ŘƛŘ ƴƻǘ ŎƻƳǇƭŀƛƴ ƻŦ Ǉŀƛƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 
heart area. Therefore, they categorically deny that Agadil died due to heart disease. 

Counsel Galym NǳǊǇŜƛǎƻǾΣ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΣ DǳƭōŀǊŀǎƘ ½ƘƻƭƳǳƪƘŀƳōŜǘƻǾŀ ŀƴŘ ǿƛŘƻǿ DǳƭƴŀǊ 
Kasymkhanova filed several new applications with the prosecutor's office, demanding that Agadil's death be 
re-investigated and the employees of the detention facility who ignored the critical deterioration in Agadil's 
health be brought to justice. However, on 24 August 2020, they received a response from the prosecutor of 
the city of Nur-Sultan Bauyrzhan Myrzakerov in which he stated that there were no elements of illegal 
actions by the employees of the Tselinograd police department, or the employees of the Nur-Sultan pre-trial 
detention facility (The Institution EC 166/1). 

 

Large-scale persecution of activists for demanding an independent investigation into the murder of Dulat 
Agadil and honouring his memory 

The death of the opposition activist triggered further large-scale peaceful protests that were held in the 
period between 25 February 2020 and 1 March 2020 in 14 cities and towns of Kazakhstan. The protesters 
demanded an independent investigation into Agadil's death and the resignation of the government. Within 
this time, the police detained at least 244 peaceful protesters with the use of brutal force, of which more 
than 20 people were subjected to administrative arrest. One of the activists, Serik Askarov, had his arm 
broken during the detention. Many activists were injured.  Human rights defenders Dana Zhanay and Saltanat 
Barykbayeva, who collected information for the public about the case of Agadil, were among those detained. 

Throughout the summer, activists using the Asar method (a popular Kazakhstani tradition of joint gratuitous 
work) helped the family of Dulat Agadil to build a house. On 24 July 2020, after the completion of the next 
stage of building the house, a group of activists walked from the house of Dulat Agadil to his grave, which is 
ƻǳǘǎƛŘŜ ǘƘŜ ǾƛƭƭŀƎŜΦ 5ǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜȅ ŎƘŀƴǘŜŘ 5ǳƭŀǘ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ƴŀƳŜΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƭƻƎŀƴǎ ϦCƻǊǿŀǊŘΣ 
YŀȊŀƪƘǎǘŀƴΗϦ ŀƴŘ ϦtƻƭƛŎŜ ŀǊŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǇŜƻǇƭŜΗέΦ tƻƭƛŎŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǿŀǘŎƘing what happened and recorded 
everything on camera, but did not interfere with the procession. 

On 8 August 2020, in honour of the completion of a house for the family of the deceased activist, activists 
from different regions of Kazakhstan held a memorial ceremony in honour of Dulat Agadil in Talapker village, 
where he lived. The preparation for the ceremony was carried out with the active participation of civil 
activists, who donated money and provided other necessary assistance. 

Law enforcement bodies persecuted activists on a large scale for participating in the march of 24 July 2020 
and the following memorial ceremony of 8 August 2020. 85 activists were subjected to administrative arrests 
for a period of five to 15 days, while aǘ ƭŜŀǎǘ ну ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŦƛƴŜŘΣ ƘŀǾƛƴƎ ōŜŜƴ ŎƻƴǾƛŎǘŜŘ ƻŦ ΨǾƛƻƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ 
ƻǊŘŜǊ ƻŦ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ŀ ǊŀƭƭȅΩΦ {ƻƳŜ ǘǊƛŀƭǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ƻǳǘ ŀǘ ƴƛƎƘǘ όŀǘ ƳƛŘƴƛƎƘǘύ ŀƴŘ ƛƴ ŀ ǊǳǎƘΦ !ǎ 
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of 7 September 2020, at least 183 persons were recorded as persecuted for political reasons for participating 
in the funeral feast of Dulat Agadil; of them, at least 22 activists were subjected to prosecution134. 

The facts indicate that Dulat Agadil was subjected to torture following his detention at night, after which he 
died in the detention facility in Nur-Sultan, where he was not provided with adequate nor timely medical 
assistance. The death of the activist was due to the criminal actions of the police officers and the subsequent 
negligence of the detention facility workers. 

The death of Agadil is a consequence of the systematic politically motivated persecution and arrests to which 
he had been subjected. This political killing is a direct consequence of the oppressive policy of the Kazakhstani 
authorities against protesters and opposition, and once again exposed the systemic problem of torture in 
Kazakhstan. Civil society perceives this event as a demonstrative intimidation of activists, who now risk not 
only their freedom, but also their lives. 

¢ƘŜ YŀȊŀƪƘǎǘŀƴƛ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘƛŜǎ ŘƛŘƴΩǘ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ŀƴ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƛƎŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŀǘƘ ƻŦ 
Dulat Agadil and consistently attempted to conceal the circumstances of the events that occurred the night 
of his death. The authorities used attempts to honour the memory of Dulat Agadil and demands for an 
objective investigation as a pretext for a new wave of persecution. 

The Bureau of South and Central Asia with the US Department of State135, the British Embassy in 
Kazakhstan136, Director of the OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights Solrun Gisladottir137, 
member of the Belgian Senate Marc Demesmaecker, as well as more than 24 members of the European 
Parliament (who also expressed outrage ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎǎǳǊŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ƎŀŘƛƭΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀǎǎ ǇŜǊǎŜŎǳǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 
activists for paying tribute to his memory)138. expressed their concern over the death of Dulat Agadil in the 
detention facility. They called for a public and thorough investigation into the death of the activist, which 
was ignored by the Kazakhstani authorities. 

On 30 April 2020 The Permanent Representative of the United States of America to the OSCE, James Gilmore, 
in his address to the Head of the OSCE Programme Office in Nur-Sultan said: "The death in police custody of 
human rights defender Dulat Agadil in February and the subsequent detention of demonstrators who 
peacefully demanded a response from the authorities regarding the cause of his death, underlines that the 
Office in Nur-Sultan should be giving priority to its work in the field of judicial and police reform"139. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
134 https://www.facebook.com/qaharman.kz.7/posts/331944268139383  
135 https://twitter.com/State_SCA/status/1232399059194929152  
136 https://twitter.com/UKinKZ/status/1232667173115617282  
137 https://twitter.com/ODIHRdirector/status/1232678048476037121  
138 https:// www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2819727411679857/ ; 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2814841118835153  
139 https://osce.usmission.gov/on-the-report-by-the-osce-programme-office-in-nur-sultan/  
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https://twitter.com/ODIHRdirector/status/1232678048476037121
https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2819727411679857/
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https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2814841118835153
https://osce.usmission.gov/on-the-report-by-the-osce-programme-office-in-nur-sultan/
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5. THE ORAZOV SERIK AND KHAIROLLA AMANBIKE CASES 

 

Civil activists Serik Orazov and Amanbike Khairolla were systematically subjected to politically motivated 
persecution and pressure from the authorities in connection with their social activities. This has subsequently 
ƭŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǎǘǎΩ ŘŜŀǘƘǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀǊŀŎǘŜǊ ƻŦ ǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ killing. In addition, the death of Amanbike 
Khairolla was used by police and NSC officers to intimidate human rights defenders and activists in Aktobe. 

 

The case of Serik Orazov 

Serik Orazov was an opposition activist from Aktobe. He 
participated in meetings and actions called for by the opposition 
ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘ 5/Y ŀƴŘ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέΦ {ŜǊƛƪ hǊŀȊƻǾ ǊŜŎƻǊŘŜŘ ŀƴŘ 
published video messages on social networks criticizing the 
authorities, demanding respect for the rights to freedom of 
assembly and freedom of speech, participated in peaceful 
meetings, and attended politically motivated trials against 
activists. Orazov also publicly opposed Chinese economic 
expansion and the construction of 55 Chinese plants in 
Kazakhstan140. 

Orazov was repeatedly detained by force for participation in peaceful rallies. In particular, the police detained 
him on 19 September 2019, 16 December 2019 and 1 March 2020. Serik Orazov reported that during his 
detention on 1 March 2020, the police officers hit him and twisted his arms, after which his blood pressure 
rose, his heart rate increased and he lost consciousness in a police car. Unconscious, he was taken to the 
police station, from where an ambulance took him to a hospital, where he was treated. When Orazov left 
the hospital, the police again grabbed him and took him to the administrative court. There, at 20:00 late in 
the evening, he was given an administrative warning for "disobeying the police"141.  

According to Berik Orazov, Serik Orazov's son, since 10 April 2020 their family has observed regular round-
the-clock surveillance of their house.  

On 15 May 2020, police officer Ramazan Kaliyev tried to detain 68-year-old Orazov, held him by force, 
pushed him away and prevented him from entering his house142. Judging by the conversation, the 
policeman probably had questions for Orazov about his participation in the rallies143. Later in his statement, 
policeman Kaliyev said that he had been instructed to take activist Orazov to the police station as part of the 
administrative case under Article 476 Part 3 ("violation of the state of emergency in terms of the ban on 
rallies"). 

The son of the victim reported that when Serik Orazov tried to get into the building, the policeman grabbed 
him by the neck using a suffocating technique144. Immediately afterwards, Orazov fell and died, not even 
making it to the flat145. The State Medical Examiner concluded that Orazov's cause of death was 
cardiovascular failure. 

 
140 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4wmk4EVLAnY&feature=youtu.be  
141 https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php?story_fbid=110836157302987&id=100051298098569  
142 https://www.facebook.com/100010593514534/videos/pcb.1146416689054771/1146412075721899/?type=3&theater&ifg=1 
143 https://www.facebook.com/lyudmyla.kozlovska/videos/pcb.2683974621921804/10217275297616920/?type=3&theater&ifg=1  
144 https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php?story_fbid=111069640612972&id=100051298098569 
145 https://www.facebook.com/100051298098569/videos/123263196060283/  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4wmk4EVLAnY&feature=youtu.be
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https://www.facebook.com/lyudmyla.kozlovska/videos/pcb.2683974621921804/10217275297616920/?type=3&theater&ifg=1
https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php?story_fbid=111069640612972&id=100051298098569
https://www.facebook.com/100051298098569/videos/123263196060283/
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Relatives are demanding that police officer Ramazan Kaliyev, who used force on Orazov, be brought to 
justice. The police opened a criminal case under Article 362 of the Criminal Code, "Excess of powers or official 
authorities", although relatives demanded that an investigation into torture be opened.  

However, on 26 June 2020 the investigation "did not find any elements of a crime" and closed the criminal 
case against the policeman. The investigators referred to the testimony of Ramazan Kaliyev himself, who 
was classified as a witness. According to his testimony, Kaliyev "did not use force, did not hit, drag, throw 
on the ground, twist his arms or perform any other illegal actions against Orazov S.".  

At the same time, the investigation refused to hold a confrontation between policeman Kaliyev and Berik 
Orazov, arguing that the son of the deceased gave testimony that allegedly "does not contradict" the 
policeman's testimony. However, this is not true, as the policeman denied the use of force, and Berik 
Orazov publicly stated that he saw the policeman use a suffocating technique in the entryway - he grabbed 
the activist by the neck. 

The decision to terminate the investigation against the policeman uses the following phrase without further 
explanation: "Orazov S. always went to rallies". 

The closure of a criminal case regarding the death of an opposition activist sparked a wave of public outrage 
on social networks. In September 2020, it became known that the case was sent for further investigation. 

Police officer Ramazan Kaliyev continues to work in the police force and to participate in the persecution of 
activists. 

 

The case of Amanbike Khairolla 

 Amanbike Khairolla (last name according to documents - 
Meyrkhanova) is an opposition activist from Aktobe who supported 
ǘƘŜ ƳƻǾŜƳŜƴǘǎ 5/Y ŀƴŘ άYƻǎƘŜ tŀǊǘƛȅŀǎȅέΦ {ƘŜ ǿŀǎ 32 years old and 
the mother of three children. On 28 March 2020 the police reported 
that the body of Amanbike Khairolla was found on the outskirts of 
Aktobe. 

The day before, a farewell letter was published on Amanbike 
YƘŀƛǊƻƭƭŀΩǎ CŀŎŜōƻƻƪ ǇŀƎŜΦ IƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ Ŝarlier, Khairolla herself 
reported that this page had been hacked on 19 February 2020 and 
that unknown people had access to it146. It should be noted that in 
February-August 2020, several dozen opposition activists 
announced that their accounts had been hacked147. The information 
ǇŀƎŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎ hǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴǎ άvŀƘŀǊƳŀƴέ ŀƴŘ άплрέ 
have also been attacked. After her account was hacked, Khairolla texted her friends from the Kazakhkyzy 
Koshe Partyasinda Facebook page148. 

¢ƘŜ ƻŦŦƛŎƛŀƭ ǾŜǊǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ YƘŀƛǊƻƭƭŀΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ ǿŀǎ ƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ ŀǎ ǎǳƛŎƛŘŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛǘƛŜǎΦ 

Khairolla participated in opposition rallies and criticized the authorities on social networks. As a result, she 
was repeatedly subjected to arbitrary detentions and interrogations in the regional administration, city 
prosecutor's office and the NSC. There is a video where Khairolla tells how on 6 December 2019 NSC officers 

 
146 https://www.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=232694894422930&id=100030472630759  
147 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2631221097197157/  
148 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2634769620175638/  
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in civilian clothes abducted her from her home, took her phone and brought her for interrogation149. After 
the NSC employees seized her phone, posts started to disappear from her Facebook page. According to local 
activists, the NSC officers offered Khairolla "cooperation with the authorities", promising a flat in return, 
but the activist refused. 

On 4 March 2020, Khairolla filed a police report stating that she had been receiving threatening messages 
from unknown persons on social networks since February 2020. According to the messages, these 
ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭǎ ƪƴŜǿ YƘŀƛǊƻƭƭŀΩǎ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ Řŀǘŀ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊƻǳǘŜǎ ǎƘŜ ŀƴŘ ƘŜǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǘƻƻƪΦ YƘŀƛǊƻƭƭŀ ǘƻƭŘ ƘŜǊ ŦǊƛŜƴŘΣ 
activist Yerlan Faizullayev, that unknown persons in their mesages accused her of "facilitating" the murder 
of Dulat Agadil and threatened to "kill her children if she does not commit suicide"150. It is known that police 
have informed Khairolla of their intention to question her in the case of the death of Dulat Agadil151. 

"My soul hurts, I'm depressed," Khairolla told her friend Faizullayev. On 20 March 2020, Khairolla sent a 
message to Faizullayev saying "I will be killed soon"152. 

A few hours after the official announcement of Khairolla's death, the police summoned for questioning 
!ƭǘȅƴŀȅ ¢ǳƪǎƛƪƻǾŀΣ ƘǳƳŀƴ ǊƛƎƘǘǎ ŘŜŦŜƴŘŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άvŀƘŀǊƳŀƴέ IǳƳŀƴ wƛƎƘǘǎ CƻǳƴŘŀǘƛƻƴΦ ¢ƘŜ ǊŜŀǎƻƴ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 
persecution was that the name "Altynay" was mentioned among other names in a suicide letter on a hacked 
Facebook page. Tuksikova notes that she did not know Khairolla. Tuksikova, as well as several other 
opposition activists, continue to be questioned ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎǊƛƳƛƴŀƭ ŎŀǎŜ ƻŦ YƘŀƛǊƻƭƭŀΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
149 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2652068188445781/  
150 https://www.facebook.com/100011912251586/videos/762897254117343/  
151 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2634732430179357/  
152 https://www.facebook.com/100011912251586/videos/762897254117343/  
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6. THE LIST OF PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE PERSECUTION OF ACTIVISTS AND HUMAN RIGHTS 
DEFENDERS 

 

This section lists persons who follow criminal orders and directly participate in the persecution of activists 
and human rights defenders for participation in peaceful gatherings, criticism of the authorities on social 
networks, civil and human rights activities.  

 

NUR-SULTAN (ASTANA) 

In the period from September 2019 to October 2020, at least 265 activists were politically persecuted in Nur-
Sultan. One activist, Dulat Agadil, was killed as a result of police actions. 

 

Malybayev Bakytzhan Asymbekovich 

Position: First Deputy Head of Nur-Sultan Police Department, Police 
Colonel 

Date of birth: 23 July 1969 

ID card: 047564720 

Passport number: N12926717 

Address: Nur-Sultan, Shevchenko street 4 apt. 36 

Participation in human rights violations: Malybayev was seen many times at 
peaceful protests in Nur-Sultan153, during which he managed the process of forcible detention and dispersal 
of protesters. On 22 March 2019, he ordered the arrest of Svetlana Glushkova, a journalist from the TV 
ŎƘŀƴƴŜƭ άbŀǎǘƻȅŀǎƘŎƘŜȅŜ ±ǊŜƳȅŀέ ("Current Time"), who was covering the peaceful action154. On 9 May 
2019, Bakhytzhan Malybayev assured journalists that his subordinates did not detain protesters, although at 
least five arrests were recorded that day155. On 3 June 2019, Malybayev managed the actions of police 
officers who surrounded the protesting mothers with many children on the square near the Parliament 
building in Nur-Sultan.  

On 6 July 2019, Malybayev commanded the actions of police officers and special police units during the 
detention of protesters demanding the cancellation of the results of the presidential elections in 
Kazakhstan156. Malybayev covered the actions of the so-called "titushky"157 Azamat Shaykelemov and Zhiger 
Akhmetov, who hindered the work of journalists from Radio Azattyq158. In response to the journalists' 
request to pay attention to them, Bakytzhan Malybayev replied: "These are your people, they are specially 
provoking". 

 
153 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Z4bquKXs9lQ&amp=&feature=youtu.be  
154 https://kaztag.kz/ru/news/poterpevshaya-po-delu-zaderzhannoy-v-astane-zhurnalistki-popala-v-zal-suda-bez-
udostovereniya?fbclid=IwAR0cvULTYBByKPUarG3to0yiZ1Zg7t9xXzFjD-JcZUOIdGMr8w6sJe7eQPQ  
155 https://rus.azattyq.org/a/kazakhstan-detentions-activists-almaty-nur-sultan-regions/29930475.html  
156 https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9451,kazakhstan-after-the-6th-of-july-2019-authorities-persecute-and-imprison-the-participants-of-peaceful-
protests/   
157 Titushky is a collective term that emerged in Ukraine to refer to persons of athletic build who were used by the authorities to organise 
forceful provocation and incitement to unrest. 
158 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Jz9MGhMPj2s&t=999s  
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https://kaztag.kz/ru/news/poterpevshaya-po-delu-zaderzhannoy-v-astane-zhurnalistki-popala-v-zal-suda-bez-udostovereniya?fbclid=IwAR0cvULTYBByKPUarG3to0yiZ1Zg7t9xXzFjD-JcZUOIdGMr8w6sJe7eQPQ
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https://en.odfoundation.eu/a/9451,kazakhstan-after-the-6th-of-july-2019-authorities-persecute-and-imprison-the-participants-of-peaceful-protests/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Jz9MGhMPj2s&t=999s
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Tuleuov Askhat Kalmagambetovich 

Position: Head of the Nur-Sultan Department 
of the National Security Committee. 

Bilisbekov Nurgali Dauletbekovich 

Date of birth: 20 December 1962 

Position: Deputy Chairman of the NSC of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan, curator of the 10th 
Department of the NSC, Lieutenant General of 

the NSC. 

Participation in human rights violations: According to activists, Askhat Tuleuov is the organizer of the 
dispersal of peaceful protests in Nur-Sultan on 21 March 2019 and 1 May 2019. It is reported that Nurgali 
Bilisbekov is responsible for the racketeering of businessmen by NSC employees159. Tuleuov and Bilisbekov 
have family ties. 

 

Abdurakhmanov Tahir Nurkanovich 

Position: Deputy Head of the Local Police Department of the Internal Affairs 
Department of Nur-Sultan, Colonel 

 Participation in human rights violations: According to human rights activist 
Anna Shukeyeva, on 12 June 2020 Abdurakhmanov interrogated her at the 
police station after she was detained for taking part in a protest near the US 
Embassy in Nur-Sultan. Shukeyeva reported that she was held for more than 
six hours in police custody, denied the right to make a call, locked in the office, 
not allowed to drink and not allowed to use the toilet for a long time. 
Abdurakhmanov took a swing at her with his hands and threatened that he 
would send her to a mental hospital if she did not stop demanding the right 
to call160. Directly at the police station Shukeyeva was tried in an online court, 
which fined her 50 MCI (about 265 euro) for "calling for an unauthorised 
meeting". 

 

Ilyasov Ruslan (left on photo) 

Position: Police Officer, Senior 
Lieutenant  

Abitasov Zhasulan (presumably not his 
real name - on the right). 

Position: Police Officer, Senior 
Lieutenant 

Participation in human rights violations: On 12 
June 2020, after Anna Shukeyeva was fined 

 
159 https://www.facebook.com/groups/2333831603602776/permalink/2336225536696716/  
160 https://www.facebook.com/photo?fbid=266009271391871&set=pcb.266009438058521  

https://www.facebook.com/groups/2333831603602776/permalink/2336225536696716/
https://www.facebook.com/photo?fbid=266009271391871&set=pcb.266009438058521
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with 50 MCI (about 265 euro), Ilyasov and Abitasov took her out of the police building, forcibly put her in a 
car and threatened to take her to the hospital. They used force against Shukeyeva, despite her pregnancy. 
Abitasov insulted the activist, calling her an "animal". After Shukeyeva took out her phone and started a live 
video broadcast, the police took her home161. 

 

Sagadiyev Alimkhan Kazbekovich 

Date of birth: 6 May 1997 

Position: Investigator of the Tselinograd District Police Department 

Participation in human rights violations: Investigator Sagadiyev was investigating 
the criminal case "insulting the judge and slandering the prosecutor" against 
Dulat Agadil. Participated in the night detention of the activist on 24 February 
2020. 

 

Appasov Kuandyk Besimbayevich 

Date of birth: 8 February 1992 

ID card: 034489600 

Address: Akmol village, Cheremushki street 3, apt. 13 

Position: Employee of the Tselinograd District Police Department 

Baukayev Darkhan Kayratovich 

Date of birth: 10 November 1989 

ID card: 035039642 

Address: Akmol village, Gagarina street 10, apt. 15  

Position:  Employee of the Tselinograd District Police Department  

Seydaly Khangeldy Maksutuly 

Date of birth: 21 June 1995 

ID card: 040278057 

Address: Akmol village, Gagarina street 15, apt. 21  

Position:  Employee of the Tselinograd District Police Department 

Kaparov Zharas Tolyugenovich 

Date of birth: 16 August 1984 

ID card: 047927074 

Address: Akmol village, Bakyt microdistrict 12, apt. 19  

Position:  Employee of the Tselinograd District Police Department 

 
161 https://instagram.com/simkaaktiv/live/17883560875612173?igshid=1wdcbj9cifav3 ;  
https://www.facebook.com/100039484013023/videos/pcb.264086804917451/264086188250846/  

https://instagram.com/simkaaktiv/live/17883560875612173?igshid=1wdcbj9cifav3
https://www.facebook.com/100039484013023/videos/pcb.264086804917451/264086188250846/
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Participation in human rights violations: On 24 February 2020, police officers from the Tselinograd district 
Appasov, Baukayev, Seidaly and Kaparov broke into the house of activist Dulat Agadil late at night, detained 
him and brought him to the pre-trial detention facility. 162In the morning of 25 February 2020, the authorities 
reported the death of Agadil in the pre-trial detention facility. According to the activists, Appasov is closely 

connected to the NSC163. 

 

Sattayev M. 

Position: Employee of the Pre-Trial Detention Facility in Nur-
Sultan (establishment ˩ -̇166/1 of the Committee of 
criminally-executive system) 

Anarbayev D. 

Position: Employee of the Pre-Trial Detention Facility in Nur-
Sultan (establishment ˩ -̇166/1 of the Committee of criminally-executive system) 

Participation in human rights violations: On the night between 24th February and 25th February 2020, 
employees of the pre-trial detention facility showed a negligent attitude towards the dying Dulat Agadil. It 
was Sattayev and Anarbayev who did not provide the activist with medical assistance.  

 

Aitimov Aset Yersainuly 

Position: Road Patrol Inspector 

Participation in human rights violations: On 6 June 2020 he detained Agadilov 
Nurbolat, son of the murdered activist Dulat Agadil. 

 

 
162 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2688261384826461/ 
163 https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2606634066322527/ 

From left to right: Kuandyk Appasov, Darkhan Baukayev, Khangeldy Seydaly, Zharas Kaparov 

 

https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2688261384826461/
https://www.facebook.com/groups/ActivistsNotExtremists/permalink/2606634066322527/



























































































































































